ELSEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Hazardous Materials



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jhazmat

Review Nitrosamines and water

Jacek Nawrocki*, Przemysław Andrzejewski

Laboratory of Water Treatment Technology, Faculty of Chemistry, A.Mickiewicz University, Poznań, Poland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 September 2010 Received in revised form 17 January 2011 Accepted 3 February 2011 Available online 25 February 2011

Key words: Nitrosamine NDMA Disinfection by-products Drinking water Wastewater NDMA precursors

ABSTRACT

This paper provides an overview of all current issues that are connected to the presence of nitrosamines in water technology. N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) is the most frequently detected member of this family. Nitrosamines became the hottest topic in drinking water science when they were identified as disinfection by-products (DBPs) in chloraminated waters. The danger that they pose to consumer health seems to be much higher than that from chlorinated DBPs. This review summarizes our contemporary knowledge of these compounds in water, their occurrence, and precursors of nitrosamines in drinking and wastewaters, in addition to attempts to remove nitrosamines from water. The paper also reviews our knowledge of the mechanisms of nitrosamine formation in water technology. The current, commonly accepted mechanism of NDMA formation during chloramination of drinking waters assumes that dichloramine reacts with dimethylamine, forms unsymmetrical dimethylhydrazine and further oxidizes to NDMA. The question to answer is which precursors are responsible for delivering the DMA moiety for the reaction since the presence of DMA in water cannot explain the quantities of NDMA that are formed. There are also reports that other oxidants that are commonly used in water technology may generate NDMA. However, the mechanisms of such transformations are unknown. Methods for the removal of nitrosamines from water are described briefly. However, the research that has been undertaken on such methods seems to be at an early stage of development. It is predicted that photolytic methods may have the greatest potential for technological application.

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 2 | | | | | |
|----------|----------------------------------------------------------------|----|--|--|--|--|--|
| 2. | Nitrosamines | | | | | | |
| 3. | Analysis of nitrosamines | 2 | | | | | |
| 4. | Occurrence studies | 4 | | | | | |
| | 4.1. Drinking waters | 4 | | | | | |
| | 4.2 Wastewaters | 5 | | | | | |
| 5. | Precursors of NDMA in drinking water technology | 6 | | | | | |
| 6. | Precursors of NDMA in wastewater technology | 7 | | | | | |
| 7. | Removal of nitrosamine precursors by water treatment processes | | | | | | |
| 8. | Mechanisms of NDMA formation | 8 | | | | | |
| 9. | Destruction of the nitrosamines | 10 | | | | | |
| | 9.1. Photolytic reactions and advanced oxidation processes | 10 | | | | | |
| | 9.2. Reverse osmosis (RO) | 13 | | | | | |
| | 9.3 Biodegradation and phytoremediation | 13 | | | | | |
| | 9.4. Chemical reduction of NDMA | 14 | | | | | |
| 10 | Conclusions | 14 | | | | | |
| 10. F | Research needs | 15 | | | | | |
| | References | 15 | | | | | |
| | References | 15 | | | | | |

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* jaceknaw@amu.edu.pl (J. Nawrocki).

^{0304-3894/\$ –} see front matter 0 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.02.005

1. Introduction

The history of environmental pollution by nitrosamines seems to be lengthy. At first, industrial sources were blamed for polluting raw and drinking waters mainly with N-nitrosodimethylamine. (NDMA-abbreviations for nitrosamines are listed in Table 1.) The first reports that document the presence of NDMA in waters appeared in the 1970s. N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) was detected in the air and water in locations that are adjacent to a factory near Baltimore (MD) that produced unsymmetrical dimethylhydrazine (UDMH) from NDMA ([1] and references therein). The reports that documents excessive NDMA concentrations in groundwater in the proximity of a rocket testing facility in California were particularly important [1]. Several studies have described NDMA formation in waters that have been treated with ion-exchange. The anion-exchange resins have quaternary amine functional groups that could serve as NDMA precursors [2-4]. However, at the beginning of the 21st century, the final disinfection of drinking waters appeared to be the main source of nitrosamines. Thus, chloramination was blamed for NDMA formation. This was ironic, because chloramination had been thought to generate a smaller number of disinfection by-products than other disinfectants. This stimulated research on the mechanisms of NDMA formation and its precursors, as well as the development of new methods of analysis, occurrence studies, and destruction methods, etc. All of the early reports of NDMA presence in water were comprehensively reviewed by Mitch et al. [1]. Another short review of NDMA issues in water industry was published by Nicholson [5]. Recently, Krasner [6] reviewed emerging disinfection by-products of health concern. The review also focused on NDMA issues. The reader can find a brief update of NDMA problems in Richardson's recent biannual reviews [7,8]. Human contact with NDMA is not limited to drinking water since nitrosamines have also been found in chlorinated swimming pool waters [9,10].

Nitrosamines (with NDMA as the most recognized member of this group) are probable human carcinogens that could seriously affect the safety of drinking water consumers. NDMA can form in chloraminated or chlorinated waters. There are reports of NDMA formation as a result of oxidation of certain precursors. Furthermore, it can form from ion-exchange resins and nitrogencontaining flocculants. Nitrosamines belong to the category of nitrogen-containing disinfection by-products (DBPs) that some researchers consider to be the most dangerous for humans [11]. The presence of ammonia nitrogen in chlorinated wastewater effluent has also been shown recently to significantly influence water genotoxicity [12]. Due to the high carcinogenic activity of nitrosamines, their maximum allowable concentration levels are generally set at a low ng/L level (for a risk of 10^{-5}), which causes serious analytical problems. After the discovery of NDMA in California well water, the State of California issued an action level of 2 ng/L for NDMA. However, this was subsequently revised to 10 ng/L, due to the difficulty in measuring it at the originally proposed level [13]. NDMA is generally present at a concentration of a few nanograms per liter in chloraminated/chlorinated drinking water, but can form or appear at much higher levels in wastewaters. NDMA is now placed on the Unregulated Contaminants Monitoring Rule (UCMR-2), where occurrence data are being collected for it and other nitrosamines on a national scale. Ontario has issued an interim maximum acceptable concentration of 9 ng/L for NDMA [14]. The Drinking Water Inspectorate of England and Wales requires monitoring of NDMA at 1 ng/L [15], while in Germany the permissible health-based values for NDMA and NMOR are equal to 10 ng/L [10,16].

The aim of this paper is to review the current state of knowledge concerning all aspects of nitrosamines formation and presence in water technology. In general, there are two main strategies to consider concerning nitrosamines in drinking water technology: (i) to find an effective method to remove nitrosamines from water or (ii) to prevent their formation. There are no effective methods to remove nitrosamines and since they form mainly after final disinfection, the only way to avoid nitrosamines in water seems to be: (i) to understand how they are formed and (ii) to treat water with the best available methods to minimize their formation.

The present knowledge cannot fully explain how these minute amounts of nitrosamines are formed. The very low yield (approximately 1% or less) in most of the reactions considered makes predictions or determination of the actual mechanism that are responsible for the formation of the compounds even more difficult. In this review, controversies concerning the formation of NDMA in water technology processes will be emphasized. A lack of disinfection, that is distribution of biologically stable water, which does not require final disinfection with chemicals, seems to be the best way to avoid the presence of NDMA in drinking water. However, it must be realized that some surface and ground waters, particularly those affected by chlorinated wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) effluents, may require the removal of NDMA.

2. Nitrosamines

Scientists have been studying nitrosamines for more than a 100 years. However, when in 1954 Barnes and Magee [17] discovered the carcinogenic properties of the group, nitrosamines gained more attention. It has been proved that roughly 90% of nitrosamines are carcinogenic. Although NDMA is the subject of the majority of papers, other members of the group have also been detected in drinking waters. These include: N-nitrosomorpholine [18], N-nitrosopyrrolidine [18,19] N-nitrosopiperidine [19] and N-nitrosodiphenylamine [19,20]. Several secondary N-nitrosamines are listed in Table 1.

Nitrosamines are polar compounds and usually soluble in water. Their partition coefficients in octanol/water are low and therefore the compounds are difficult to extract with organic solvents. The compounds also are not adsorbed on nonpolar surfaces to any significant extent. The Henry constants are small, which means that nitrosamines cannot be removed from water by aeration. NDMA strongly absorbs 225-250 nm radiation (at 238 nm ε_{mol} = 7380 L/M cm) and this property may be used for photolytic destruction of the compound in water. As a polar compound, NDMA is not bioaccumulated, but also appears to be hardly biodegradable. The large hydrophilicity, the low adsorbability and the recalcitrant nature of nitrosamines contribute to a large risk of ground water contamination. However, the most serious threat for consumers results from the generation of NDMA during final disinfection of drinking water with chloramines. The concentration of NDMA increases with distance from the water treatment facility [23–25].

3. Analysis of nitrosamines

Research on nitrosamine occurrence in waters would not be possible without the development of sensitive methods and analytical procedures. There are many methods to analyze nitrosamines and many of the compounds are routinely analyzed (e.g., in food or in rubber products) [26,27]. The methods are often based on a denitrosation reaction. The subsequent determination of the resulting secondary amines by derivatization cannot be used to determine the NDMA and related compounds in water, as secondary amines may be present in waters at concentrations three orders of magnitude higher than those of the nitrosamines.

| Nitrosamine (Abbreviation) | Formula | Molecular weight (g/mol) | $\log K_{\rm o/w}$ [22] | Standard US EPA cancer classification group | MCL for $R = 10^{-5}$ (ng/L) | |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------|------------------------------|--|
| N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) | $C_2H_6N_2O$ | 74,082 | -0.57 | B2 | 7 | |
| N-nitrosomethylethylamine (NMEA) | $C_3H_8N_2O$ | 88,108 | 0.04 | B2 | 20 | |
| N-nitrosodiethylamine (NDEA) | $C_4H_{10}N_2O$ | 102,135 | 0.48 | B2 | 2 | |
| N-nitroso-di-n-propylamine (NDPA) | $C_6H_{14}N_2O$ | 130,188 | 1.36 | B2 | 50 | |
| N-nitroso-di-n-butylamine (NDBA) | C ₈ H ₁₈ N ₂ O | 158,241 | 2.63 | B2 | 60 | |
| N-nitroso-di-phenylamine (NDPhA) | $C_{12}H_{10}N_2O$ | 198,221 | 3.13 | B2 | 70,000 | |
| N-nitrosopyrrolidine (NPYR) | $C_4H_8N_2O$ | 100.1 | -0.19 | 2B (IARC) | | |
| N-nitrosopiperidine (NPIP) | $C_5H_{10}N_2O$ | 114.15 | 0.36 | B2 | | |
| N-nitrosomorpholine (NMOR) | $C_4H_8N_2O_2$ | 116.12 | -0.44 | 2B (IARC) | | |
| N-nitroso-di-n-butylamine (NDBA) N-nitroso-di-phenylamine (NDPhA) N-nitrosopyrrolidine (NPYR) N-nitrosopiperidine (NPIP) N-nitrosomorpholine (NMOR) | $\begin{array}{c} C_8H_{18}N_2O\\ C_{12}H_{10}N_2O\\ C_{4}H_8N_2O\\ C_5H_{10}N_2O\\ C_4H_8N_2O\\ C_5H_{10}N_2O\\ C_4H_8N_2O_2 \end{array}$ | 158,241 198,221 100.1 114.15 116.12 | 2.63 3.13 -0.19 0.36 -0.44 | B2 B2 2B (IARC) B2 2B (IARC) | 60 70,000 | |

MCL: maximum contaminant level for risk 10⁻⁵. (The abbreviations are used throughout the text).

This limitation does not hold when post-column derivatization is used. Pérez-Ruiz et al. [28] applied post-column (HPLC) nitrosamine photolysis and tris(2,2'-bipyridyl) ruthenium (III) chemiluminescence for the detection of ng/L concentrations of NDMA, NDEA, NPIP, NMOR, NPYR. The method is based on the earlier idea of Noffsinger and Danielson [29]. Strata X (Styrene-divinylbenzene) cartridges were used for the preconcentration of the nitrosamines. This appeared to be more efficient than using active carbon. A detection limit (LODs) of a few nanograms per liter was obtained.

Tomkins et al. [30] and Tomkins and Griese, [31] developed an analytical method that quantifies NDMA in water at a level of 2–3 ng/L. It included a C_{18} Empore disk to remove neutral organic compounds from water, an extraction of NDMA with dichloromethane, concentration of the extract, adsorption of NDMA in a carbon trap followed by thermal desorption into GC column and chemiluminescent nitrogen detection.

The methods currently used for the determination of nitrosamines are based on enrichment of nitrosamines by solid phase extraction (SPE), elution of the analytes with methylene chloride, concentration of the eluate to less than 1 ml and chromatographic (GC or HPLC) analysis with MS/MS detection [32–35]. Low N-nitrosamine recoveries are common for both liquid–liquid extraction (LLE) and SPE methods. Thus, an isotope dilution method is used to reduce uncertainty in the determination.

Charrois et al. [32] proposed the use of a combined SPE column consisting of a LiChrolut EN (bottom layer) with an Ambersorb 572 (upper layer). LiChrolut EN is an ethylvinylbenzene–divinylbenzene sorbent powder material with a high specific surface area ($1200 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$). Ambersorb 572 is a carbonaceous spherical bead material with a high surface area of $1100 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$. Dichloromethane was used for elution of nitrosamines from the SPE column. The volume extracted was reduced with nitrogen gas to $200 \,\mu$ l to achieve a concentration factor of 2500. Chromatography was performed with GC coupled with the mass

selective detector operating in PCI mode and ammonia as the reagent gas.

Munch and Basset [35] developed EPA method 521 for seven nitrosamines. The SPE procedure used coconut charcoal as the adsorbent, dichloromethane extraction, concentration of the extract to less than 1 ml and analysis by GC/CI–MS/MS with methanol as the reagent.

Cheng et al. [34] developed an alternative method to analyze eight nitrosamines in water. The authors compared three methods to isolate nitrosamines: SPE with an in-house loaded Ambersorb 572 adsorbent, commercially available cartridges for SPE (CSPE) and a micro liquid-liquid extraction (MLLE) system. A concentration factor of 1250 was obtained with the SPE system and dichloromethane elution. The CSPE graphitized carbon black cartridge supplemented with 350 mg of Ambersorb 572 resin appeared to be the most efficient for nitrosamine retention. The elution was carried out with dichloromethane and, after final evaporation of the solvent, a concentration factor of 1000 was achieved. In the MLLE system, dichloromethane was used as the extractant and the final concentration of the extract to 0.5 ml led to a 200-fold enrichment. The authors [34] of the method claim that further concentration with corresponding smaller detection limits (MDLs) is possible. It is worth mentioning that, in all extractions, the saltingout effect (with NaCl) appeared to have a favorable influence on the extraction efficiency. For final determination of nitrosamines, GC-CI/MS/MS with methanol as the reagent was applied.

Krauss and Hollender [33] recently described a new analytical procedure to determine nine nitrosamines with SPE and HPLC-MS/MS. The solid phase extraction used for isolation of nitrosamines from water was carried out in two combined cartridges. One reversed phase (Oasis HLB) cartridge in the top position was used to remove nonpolar interferences and enrich less polar nitrosamines, while a carbonaceous sorbent (Bakerbond Carbon) was applied to retain most polar nitrosamines. A similar idea was employed earlier by Tomkins et al. [30]. The analytes were eluted

| I aDIC 2 |
|----------|
|----------|

Table 1

The properties of secondary pitrosamines (USEDA) [21]

MDL of various nitrosamine analysis methods (ng/L).

| | Charrois et al. [32] | Krauss and Hollender [33] | Cheng et al. [34] | | Munch and Bassett [35] EPA 551 method | | SPME extraction Grebel et al. [36] | | | |
|-------|----------------------|---------------------------|-------------------|------|------------------------------------------|-------|---------------------------------------|-----|------|-------|
| | | | SPE | CSPE | MLLE | Lab.1 | Lab.2 | NCD | NPD | CI/MS |
| NDMA | 0.7 | 0.4 | 0.78 | 0.70 | 2.3 | 0.28 | 0.33 | 57 | 890 | 30 |
| NMEA | 0.4 | 0.9 | 1.35 | 1.36 | 3.9 | 0.28 | 0.17 | 132 | 226 | 90 |
| NDEA | 0.6 | 0.7 | 1.78 | 0.84 | 2.5 | 0.26 | 0.31 | 87 | 181 | 64 |
| NDPA | 1.0 | 0.8 | 1.64 | 0.81 | 3.4 | 0.32 | 0.24 | 58 | 144 | 59 |
| NPYR | 1.2 | 1.0 | 0.84 | 0.54 | 1.8 | 0.35 | 0.20 | - | - | - |
| NPIP | 1.3 | 0.1 | 1.35 | 0.33 | 2.2 | 0.66 | 0.27 | 125 | 1016 | 59 |
| NMOR | 1.0 | 0.2 | 1.38 | 0.63 | 2.7 | - | - | - | - | 138 |
| NDBA | 1.3 | 3.3 | 1.61 | 0.80 | 3.8 | 0.36 | 0.22 | 193 | 242 | 79 |
| NDPhA | - | 2.4 | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - |

SPE, solid phase extraction; CSPE, cartridge solid phase extraction; MLLE, micro liquid-liquid extraction; NCD, nitrogen chemiluminescence detector; NPD, nitrogen-phosphorous detector; CI/MS, chemical ionization (with ammonia)-mass spectrometry.

with dichloromethane and analyzed by HPLC with a reversed C_{18} column and a linear ion trap/orbitrap mass spectrometer.

Solid phase microextraction (SPME) has also been tried as a method for the isolation and enrichment of nitrosamines before chromatographic analysis. Although the method was less time consuming than those described above, it did not ensure the required sensitivity [36]. The detection limits that were achieved for all of the systems described above are combined in Table 2.

A fast screening method for nitrosamines was developed by Jurado-Sánchez et al. [10]. It consists of a solid phase extraction using 250 ml water that passes through a 75 mg LiChrolut EN cartridge, elution of the analytes with 150 μ l (acetonitrile–ethylacetate 1:9), concentration of the extract to 10 μ l (a concentration factor of 25,000) and gas-chromatography with a nitrogen–phosphorous detector (GC-NPD) analysis on a short, 1,5 m capillary column. Two chromatographic peaks were observed—one for NDMA and NDEA and the second for NPYR, NMOR, NPIP, and NDBA. However, the results of the screening methods require further confirmation using a standard GC-MS. The limits of detection for six nitrosamines are in the range of 0.4–1.7 ng/L.

To summarize, Ambersorb 572 (a carbonaceous, spherical bead material with a high surface area of $1100 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$), which was first proposed by Jenkins et al. [37], is commonly used in analytical procedures as an adsorbent in SPE cartridges for nitrosamine enrichment. Dichloromethane also seems to be commonly used as the best solvent for extraction of nitrosamines in both SPE and LLE procedures. The determination of low concentrations of nitrosamines requires ca. 1000-fold enrichment of the analytes before chromatography (mainly GC) with chemical ionization and tandem mass spectrometry. Isotope dilution is used to increase the precision of analysis. Carbonaceous adsorbents should be used with care as, according to a recent report [38], carbon may catalyze the oxidation of DMA to NDMA in the presence of oxygen.

4. Occurrence studies

Nitrosamines have been found in surface and ground waters, in wastewater treatment plant influents and effluents, as well as in drinking waters.

4.1. Drinking waters

Few systematic studies of real drinking water systems are available, but the general conclusion of the studies identifies chloramination as the main source of NDMA in finished water. The chlorination of ground water that is polluted with ammonia may also result in the formation of NDMA.

One of the first occurrence studies focused on NDMA presence in US and Canadian drinking water treatment plants. The studies were carried out by Barret et al. [25]. Samples of raw waters and water treatment plant effluents from distribution systems of 21 water treatment facilities were analyzed for nitrosamine presence. Almost no NDMA was present in the raw waters. Slightly higher concentrations of NDMA were found in chloraminated waters than the chlorinated waters, although almost all results were below Canadian and US standards for drinking water (9 and 10 ng/L, respectively). The study identified anion-exchange resins as an important source of NDMA precursors as the chlorinated water from the plant applying the process had the highest concentration of the nitrosamine (25 ng/L). The study also confirmed that the chloramine reaction that leads to NDMA formation is relatively slow. This resulted in increasing concentrations of nitrosamine as the distance from the treatment plant increased [25].

The California Department of Health Services conducted a survey of nitrosamines in 32 water treatment plants. (Table 3).

The survey confirmed the presence of NDMA in some raw waters (later Zhao et al. [39] also found NDMA in some influent waters). It also indicated that chloramination is an important source of NDMA. However, the study also showed that chloramine alone is insufficient for generation of nitrosamine. The water must contain certain precursors. Analyses were undertaken for several possible factors, including chlorine residual (both free and total), pH, temperature, alkalinity, total organic carbon, nitrate-N, nitrite-N, ammonia-N, and total Kjeldahl nitrogen. No correlations could be found. The study confirmed the earlier findings of Barret et al. [25] regarding the significance of ion-exchange resins as important sources of NDMA precursors [40].

Charrois et al. [18] have surveyed 179 Ontario water treatment plants for nitrosamine presence. The study concerned influent, effluent and distribution water samples. Altogether more than 3000 samples have been analyzed. Except for NDMA, nanogram quantities of N-nitrosomorpholine and N-nitrosopyrrolidine have been detected in some waters.

The results collected by Charrois et al. [18] confirm again that some raw waters may already contain NDMA and that both chlorination and chloramination of waters may lead to the formation of nitrosamine. Although chlorination may generate some NDMA, the median concentration values of chlorinated systems were far below Canadian standards. For chloraminated systems, median NDMA concentrations were slightly higher for effluent and distribution samples, but still lower than the standard. Of the 179 drinking water systems that were surveyed, 30% were found to contain NDMA. Most NDMA concentrations were associated with facilities that use chloramine for final disinfection. It is also worth emphasizing that, in chloraminated systems, the median NDMA concentration increases in distribution systems. According to Charrois et al. [18], the presence of nitrosamines in water may be positively correlated with the presence of organic nitrogen. The results of the survey by Charrois et al. [18] are shown in Table 4.

Additionally, in the same paper, 20 samples from Alberta public drinking water distribution systems were analyzed. In one of the utilities, the water had an exceptionally high concentration of organic nitrogen. That resulted in high concentrations of NDMA; 66 ng/L was detected in the sample taken from the middle of the distribution system, while 100 ng/L was found in the sample taken at the farthest extreme of the same system [18].

Eleven US WTPs were examined for NDMA formation by Zhao et al. [39]. The raw waters were found to contain NDMA in concentrations of 0-53 ng/L. Chemical disinfection caused an increase in NDMA concentrations; chlorination, chloramination and chlorine dioxide were shown to increase NDMA in finished waters. We have previously reported [41] that ClO₂ may oxidize DMA to NDMA. The paper of Zhao et al. [39] is the first to confirm our observations. Zhao et al. also confirmed that ozonation and chlorine dioxide efficiency for the reduction/elimination of NDMA formation depends on the nature of the nitrosamine precursors in the source water. Significantly, more NDMA (than in the untreated water) was found after advanced oxidation processes (AOP) (H₂O₂/UV) in some waters.

A nationwide survey of NDMA occurrence in Japan was carried out by Asami et al. [42] in raw and finished waters from many water treatment plants. Nitrosamine was detected in raw waters in a concentration of less than 10 ng/L. The NDMA concentrations were greater in waters containing higher levels of total nitrogen. It must be emphasized that, in Japan, chloramination is not used for final disinfection. Ozonation was shown to increase substantially the NDMA concentrations in two waters. In both cases, however, biologically active filter (BAF) treatment removed the nitrosamine efficiently. The authors noticed some positive correlation between population density and NDMA concentrations in surface waters.

| Та | Ы | e | 3 |
|-----|----|----|---|
| 1 a | D1 | c. | • |

NDMA occurrence results in 32 California drinking water plants (California Department of Health Services last updated March 15, 2002) as cited in Charrois et al. [18].

| | | No. of samples (n) | Concentration | | Samples > MDL | |
|--------------------------|--------------|----------------------|---------------|-------------|---------------|--|
| | | | Median (ng/L) | Max. (ng/L) | | |
| Chlorine | Influent | 11 | <1 | 9.4 | 3 | |
| | Effluent | 11 | <1 | 3.3 | 3 | |
| | Distribution | 12 | <1 | 2,5 | 4 | |
| Chloramine | Influent | 27 | <1 | 3.9 | 9 | |
| | Effluent | 31 | 1.8 | 18,3 | 21 | |
| | Distribution | 34 | 1.8 | 15,8 | 27 | |
| O ₃ /chlorine | Influent | 7 | <1 | 1.3 | 2 | |
| -1 | Effluent | 10 | <1 | 3.9 | 5 | |
| | Distribution | 10 | <1 | 6.8 | 3 | |

To summarize, the available surveys have shown that about one third of raw waters is more or less polluted with NDMA. Although chloramination seems to be the most significant source of NDMA in drinking waters, it seems that all oxidants are able to form NDMA when some unidentified precursors are present in treated water.

4.2. Wastewaters

A number of nitrosamines have been found in primary effluents in wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) in Switzerland: NDMA, NMOR, NDBA, NPIP, and NDEA with concentrations typically in the range 5–25 ng/L [43]. According to Krauss et al. [43], human urine can be considered to be a source of NDMA in concentrations of up to ca. 5 ng/L in raw wastewaters, while higher concentrations are caused by industrial wastes. NPIP was also found in human urine and its excretion found to correlate with coffee consumption [44]. Nitrosamine concentrations are highly variable, hourly and daily. Activated sludge removal efficiency was estimated at ca. 60% or higher for concentrations of NDMA exceeding ca. 15 ng/L. The secondary effluent NDMA concentrations were usually lower than 10 ng/L. Since there usually is no chemical disinfection of the treated wastewaters in European countries, there is no threat of the formation of additional amounts of nitrosamines [43].

WWTP primary sludge supernatant contained up to $1 \mu g/L$ of NDMA, whereas the final concentrations were well above 100 ng/L [45]. Nitrosamine removal was directly correlated with chemical oxygen consumption. According to Padhye et al. [45], more efficient removal of NDMA requires additional biodegradable carbon. Astonishingly high and variable concentrations of NMOR of 130-12,700 ng/L have been observed by Krasner et al. [46] at one WWTP in the USA, while, at the same facility, NDMA was found at a low level of ng/L. However, disinfection with chlorine resulted in excessive NDMA formation up to 3000 ng/L. Very high (up to 5000 ng/L) and variable concentrations of NDMA were noted in the effluents of three WWTPs by Zhou et al. [47]. The implementation of

nitrification/denitrification and sequential disinfection with chlorine decreased the nitrosamine concentrations in effluents by an order of magnitude.

Padhye et al. [45] have shown that nitrosamines (NDMA and NPYR) are present in considerable amounts in wastewaters. The highest concentrations of nitrosamines were found in primary sludge supernatant, but subsequent stages of treatment decreased the concentrations substantially. Sedlak et al. [48] found NDMA in concentrations ranging from 80 to 790 ng/L in seven wastewater treatment plant influents. Dimethylamine was present in these waters at concentrations of 50-120 µg/L and accounted for the majority of NDMA precursors. The analysis of the effluents from the WWTPs confirmed that NDMA was not removed consistently. The effluents contained unidentified NDMA precursors, while most DMA was removed by biological processes [48]. NDMA that is discharged with effluents from WWTP may readily degrade in the environment by biological or photochemical processes, while unidentified NDMA precursors are resistant to biochemical degradation. Such effluents may deliver NDMA precursors to water treatment plants (WTP) located downstream [49]. Incidentally, wastewater NDMA could reach concentrations of few micrograms per liter [46]. Similar values of NDMA in some California wastewater plant effluents have been found by Zhou et al. [47]. According to Pehlivanoglu-Mantas et al. [49], WWPT effluents containing ammonia are used for landscape or crop irrigation. Such waters are disinfected with high doses of chlorine. A full-scale system was shown to produce up to 460 ng of NDMA/L when chlorination was applied in the presence of ammonia [50]. In systems without ammonia in the wastewater effluents, only up to 20 ng of NDMA/L was detected after chlorination. The authors advise the use of lower doses of chlorine for disinfection. This seems to contradict the findings of Krasner et al. [46]. The fate of wastewaterderived disinfection by-products in surface waters was examined by Chen et al. [51] and solar photolysis appeared to be the main mechanism decreasing concentrations of NDMA in river waters.

Table 4

NDMA data from 179 Ontario water treatment plants [18].

| | | No. of samples (n) | Concentration | | Samples > MDL | |
|--------------------------|--------------|--------------------|---------------|-------------|---------------|--|
| | | | Median (ng/L) | Max. (ng/L) | | |
| Chlorine | Influent | 851 | <1 | 8 | 245 | |
| | Effluent | 1429 | <1 | 40 | 794 | |
| | Distribution | 282 | <1 | 66 | 100 | |
| Chloramine | Influent | 142 | <1 | 6.7 | 53 | |
| | Effluent | 277 | 1.3 | 65 | 166 | |
| | Distribution | 76 | 2.2 | 18 | 60 | |
| O ₃ /chlorine | Influent | 2 | <1 | <1 | 0 | |
| | Effluent | 2 | <1 | <1 | 0 | |
| | Distribution | 2 | <1 | <1 | 0 | |

To summarize, wastewater effluents may pollute the receiving (ground or surface) waters with both NDMA and NDMA precursors. The presence of nitrosamines in drinking waters seems to be connected to the application of chemical oxidation in water treatment. Chloramination is most often identified as the source of NDMA in finished waters.

Human excretion and industrial pollution are the sources of nitrosamines in wastewater influents. Human excretion results in a relatively low and stable level of nitrosamines. Industrial sources, on the other hand, are the most probable cause of incidental pollution of wastewaters with unstable concentrations of nitrosamine. According to the observations made so far, better nitrification/denitrification leads to a lower risk of NDMA formation during the final disinfection of wastewater effluents. Furthermore, better chemical oxygen demand (COD) removal seems to be connected to better removal of NDMA precursors. In USA and Canada, nitrosamine concentrations in wastewater influents and effluents vary in a very wide range (from the low $\mu g/L$ to the low ng/L). In Europe, WWTP effluents are not disinfected and therefore no threat of NDMA formation exists. However, there are also no European results concerning the presence of NDMA precursors in the effluents.

5. Precursors of NDMA in drinking water technology

According to some earlier cited papers, raw waters may already contain certain amounts of NDMA [18,25,39]. In the generation of NDMA, nitrosamine precursors are the key issue, as it is clear that nitrosamines may be formed during water treatment (and distribution) only from compounds that contain organic nitrogen. Since NDMA removal cannot be applied after final disinfection, it is necessary to identify precursors and then attempt to remove them from the water to avoid the formation of nitrosamines. A possible list of NDMA precursors contains:

- dimethylamine, if present in natural waters,
- undefined organic nitrogen as a part of natural organic matter [52,53],
- other amines (tertiary- or quaternary-) that can be oxidized to DMA during water treatment [54],
- cationic flocculants [23],
- anion exchange resins that are used for ion-exchange in water treatment [2,55].

It is obvious that dimethylamine (DMA) is the most natural and most likely precursor of NDMA. Of course, the majority of laboratory experiments on the formation of NDMA have been carried out with DMA. However, there is no systematic data on the presence of DMA in natural surface and ground waters. There are few papers that describe the determination of secondary amines in river waters. Furthermore, the results presented in this regard are rather inconsistent. According to Sacher et al. [56], concentrations of DMA in German rivers do not exceed 3 µg/L. Except for DMA, morpholine was also detected in river waters by the same group of researchers. Cai et al. [57] detected about 20 µg/L of DMA in lake waters, while, according to Zhao et al. [58], more than 200 µg/L of DMA were found in another lake. Sewage-polluted waters were shown to contain more than 200 μ g/L of DMA. Yet, in large rivers with a higher dilution factor, DMA was not found [59]. The data is quite inconsistent, as it represents single samplings from different surface waters and during unspecified seasons. Since the expected concentrations of DMA in natural water are usually at the μ g/L level, even reactions with less than a 1% yield may be of importance for the formation of NDMA. Although secondary amines undergo biodegradation in natural systems, the rate of this process has been shown to depend

strongly on the amine concentration [60]. Similarly, no data about the behavior of secondary amines in the water treatment technological pathway is available.

On the other hand, Gerecke and Sedlak [53] and Chen and Valentine [52,61] have shown that chloramination of natural organic matter (NOM) is responsible for the formation of significant amounts of NDMA. According to Chen and Valentine [52], the oxidation of natural organic matter by chloramines is the ratedetermining step in formation of NDMA. The quantity of NDMA can be correlated linearly with a decrease of SUVA value at 272 nm [52]. In a subsequent paper, Chen and Valentine [61] found that the dimethylamine present in river water at 0.5 μ g/L could account only for 15% of the NDMA that was formed, while the prevailing amounts of the nitrosamine were formed from NOM. Of the six fractions of NOM, hydrophilic bases have been found to be the most potent NDMA precursors, even though their share of NOM was less than 5%. All of these facts conspire to confirm that DMA is not the single NDMA precursor. Soon, the research efforts to find the NDMA precursors became focused on dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) [62]. DON is a summary parameter concerning undefined organic nitrogen that is contained in natural organic matter. Wastewaters may contain DON at concentrations higher than those in natural waters and thus NDMA formation may be associated particularly with wastewater-impacted waters [63,64]. There are three main sources of DON in raw waters:

- effluents from wastewater plants (with relatively high NDMA formation potential (NDMA-FP)) that are located upstream of the WTP,
- SMPs soluble microbial products as a group of compounds from biomass decay and substrate metabolism, containing proteins [65]; SMPs were shown by Krasner et al. [66] to slightly increase NDMA-FP,
- autochthonous organic matter that contain extra- and intracellular algal organic matter.

These three sources of DON may substantially increase NDMA formation potential in raw waters [66,67].

The average DON concentration in raw waters measured for 28 US WTPs in 13 states was about 0.186 mg/L [68]. It is also interesting to note that the molecular weight distribution of DON is similar to that of dissolved organic carbon (DOC). Lee et al. [68] also found that fluorescence spectroscopy may be used as a reasonable surrogate for DON. Excitation at 270-280 nm and emission at 300-350 nm correlated well with protein-like material. A similar conclusion may be drawn from the work of Hua et al. [69], who indicated that fluorescence from excitation at 290-310 nm, emitted at 330-350 nm is closely related to the NDMA formation potential. NDMA precursors are usually associated with non-humic substances. This is why waters that have a high DOC do not form much NDMA [70]. Substantial amounts of nitrosamine precursors are provided by wastewater treatment plant effluents. Certain agricultural activity may also increase DON and NDMA formation upon chloramination [70]. Since DON constitutes only a minor part of DOC, it has never been subjected to intensive research in wastewater treatment technology. DON was found to constitute barely 10% of the total dissolved nitrogen in raw waters. DON in wastewaters has been comprehensively reviewed recently by Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak [71]. It is also worth emphasizing that DON has recently become the most unwanted part of NOM in drinking water treatment technology as it appears to be responsible for the formation of the most dangerous disinfection by-products [11,62,72,73]. The determination of DON is not easy and has been a matter of dispute [74,75]. DON may contain up to $50 \,\mu$ M/L of total organic nitrogen.

Anionites constitute the next group of NDMA precursors in drinking waters. The first reports on the presence of NDMA in waters treated by ion-exchange were prepared in the seventies [2-4]. Kimoto et al. [2] noted an exceptionally high concentration of NDMA when chlorine-containing water was exposed to a mixedbed demineralization resin. Najm and Trussel [55] confirmed the formation of NDMA in chloraminated water contacted earlier with strong-base guaternary amine ion-exchangers. They also observed a significant increase in NDMA formation for resins that had been soaked in nitrite-containing water. Kemper et al. [76] continued research on NDMA release from ion-exchangers and, according to their results, resins may pollute water with NDMA when freshly used and/or when used shortly after regeneration. When, however, feed water contained chlorine or chloramine, NDMA formation was observed in the first bed volume of an ion-exchanger. The presence of nitrate enhanced NDMA formation. Resins were found to release NDMA precursors, which substantially increased the nitrosamine formation after adding chlorine or chloramine for disinfection.

Cationic treatment polymer poly (diallyldimethylammonium chloride) (poly DADMAC) has been found to be a single and significant precursor of NDMA in drinking water by Wilczak et al. [23] Various commercial DADMAC polymers showed different NDMA formation potential. Increased polymer doses caused increased NDMA formation after the chloramination of finished waters. Lower polymer doses and a longer contact time with free chlorine before the addition of ammonia resulted in lower concentrations of NDMA. According to Kohut and Andrews [77], the age of a stock solution of poly(DADMAC) did not influence its NDMA FP. While poly(epichlorohydrin) dimethylamine (polyamine) solution significantly increased NDMA formation over a time span of 0–5 h, it remained unchanged over a later period (5–50 h).

The formation of NDMA from the same polymers, polyamine and poly(DADMAC), has been examined by Park et al. [78]. In polyamines, dimethylamine end-groups appeared to be responsible for NDMA formation and. therefore, the higher the molecular mass of the polyamine, the lower is the NDMA-FP. The quaternary ammonium salt, diallyldimethyl ammonium chloride, a monomer of DADMAC appeared to be quite resistant to chloramination and cannot be blamed for NDMA formation. However, a similar tertiary amine, allyldimethylamine, readily formed nitrosodimethylamine upon chloramination [78]. Releasing DMA from polymer breakdown accounts for a major mechanism of NDMA formation upon chloramination. The same was confirmed in another paper by Park et al. [79]. Chlorine-based oxidants (NH₂Cl, Cl₂, and ClO₂) were shown to release DMA from four examined amine-based polymers used in water treatment technology. The paper of Park et al. [79] confirms that oxidants are able to release DMA moiety from some organic compounds.

Kemper et al. [80] continued their efforts to find NDMA precursors. Contrary to Park et al. [78], they emphasized the role of quaternary amine polymers that are used in water treatment, as well as other quaternary amines that are applied widely in toiletries as an important source of NDMA. According to the results of Kemper et al., the polymerization of quaternary amines may promote nitrosamine formation upon chlorination or chloramination.

Diphenylamine appeared to be the major precursor of NDPhA. According to Zhou et al. [20] the chlorination of diphenylamine leads to the formation of NDPhA. The reaction strongly depends on pH and an increase in pH from 4 to 10 results in a 64-fold enhancement of nitrosamine formation.

6. Precursors of NDMA in wastewater technology

Wastewaters (untreated and treated) may contain a very wide range of NDMA concentrations. There are many results that are based on an analysis of US or Canadian wastewaters, but, with the exception of the paper by Krauss et al. [43], there is a lack of European research on nitrosamine concentration in wastewaters.

According to Padhye et al. [45], DMA and other amines were also shown to be present in wastewater, but constituted barely 20-30% of NDMA-FP. The highest concentration of nitrosamine precursors was also found in raw wastewater. The treatment removed ca. 60% of the precursors. The authors [45] emphasize that about 80% precursors have an unknown structure. It is important to note that treated effluents still have high NDMA FP levels and, therefore, may impact surface waters that may be used downstream as a supply for WTPs. Organic matter isolates from several natural waters and WWTP effluents were examined for NDMA generation at NDMA formation potential conditions [81]. The "NDMA productivity" spanned three orders of magnitude from 0.01 to 7 ng/mg dissolved organic carbon (DOC). The isolates that had a low DOC/DON ratio (<20) were the major source of NDMA and the isolates of DOC from WWTPs yielded NDMA at an order of magnitude higher than DOC isolates from other sources. Another survey of 23 US WWTPs has shown that the hydrophilic fraction of DOC is closely related to NDMA FP. Thus, it is necessary to identify the WWTP process that would preferentially remove this fraction of DOC. In this context, itrification was found to play a key role in the removal of precursors for nitrogenous disinfection byproducts including NDMA [82].

Disinfection of the effluents with chlorine or chloramine leads to the formation of nitrosamines. The concentrations of nitrosamines depend on chlorine:organic nitrogen ratio; Krasner et al. [46] have found that a lower Cl₂:N (<10) ratio generates much more NDMA than chlorine that is applied at the ratio >10.

Apart from the unidentified organic nitrogen precursors of NDMA, several compounds detected in wastewaters have been found to produce NDMA with an exceptionally high yield upon chloramination or ozonation.

It has been found that tertiary amines may be oxidized to secondary amines [83]. Therefore, oxidation processes may be a source of DMA moiety. Chlorination or chloramination of tertiary amines leads to the formation of aldehydes and secondary amines. Secondary amines become important precursors of nitrosamines during chloramination [84]. Similarly, diuron was shown to degrade in the environment with the formation of dimethylamine [85]. Chlorination or chloramination of waters that have been polluted with the herbicide led to NDMA formation. The presence of ammonia strongly enhanced the NDMA yield, while the presence of nitrates was shown to have a weaker effect on the NDMA yield enhancement [86]. According to Chen and Young [86], diuron is oxidized with chlorine and results in the formation of DMA and/or chlorodimethylamine. DMA may be subsequently nitrosated with N₂O₄. While in the presence of ammonia, chlorodimethylamine, may react with dichloramine. Tolylfluanid, a widely used fungicide, was shown by Schmidt and Brauch [87] to be a source of NDMA in some German drinking waters. The fungicide is microbially converted to dimethylsulfamide, which appears to be a very stable and persistent water pollutant. It cannot be efficiently removed by river bank filtration, adsorption by active carbon, coagulation or nanofiltration. However, upon ozonation, the compound is easily converted with a high yield (52%!) to NDMA. In one of the examined treatment plants, such a series of reactions led to more than 300 ng NDMA/L in drinking water. The more general conclusion of Schmidt and Brauch's [87] work is that oxidation may also lead to NDMA formation if precursors containing dimethylamine group are present in water. Ozonation of dyes that contain a dimethylamine group was also shown to produce large amounts of NDMA; 50 μ M/L dye solutions were able to yield more than 1000 ng NDMA/L. Furthermore, an increase in the pH (in the range 6-8) and the presence of nitrites enhanced NDMA formation [88]. The

paper of Oya et al. [88] confirms the conclusions of a recently published work by our group concerning ozonation of DMA [89]. The same Japanese group has identified two other compounds that can form NDMA upon ozonation. They are 4,4'-hexamethylenebis(1,1dimethylsemicarbazide) (HDMS) and 1,1,1',1'-tetramethyl-4,4'-(methylenedi-p-phenylene)disemicarbazide (TDMS). Both compounds are used in industry to prevent the yellowing of polyurethane fibers. The presence of HMDS or TDMS in industrial wastewaters considerably increased the concentrations of NDMA after wastewater ozonation and, consequently, the NDMA concentrations in receiving river water. Both compounds contain dimethylamine groups. Furthermore, the groups are bonded to nitrogen atoms. The compounds have been identified as efficient NDMA precursors [90].

Wastewaters may contain NDMA from humans and industry; the removal efficiency varies from case to case. Wastewaters may contain identified NDMA precursors, such as DMA and other specific compounds originating from agricultural or industrial wastes that can be oxidized to NDMA. Wastewater effluents may also contain unidentified NDMA precursors that can pollute receiving surface or ground waters, while at the same time increasing their NDMA formation potential. Unidentified NDMA precursors are resistant to photolysis and biodegradation.

7. Removal of nitrosamine precursors by water treatment processes

Now the question of whether water treatment technology can remove DON or/and NDMA precursors arises.

Water treatment processes remove on average ca. 20% of the DON and about 29% of the DOC [91]. Lee and Westerhoff [92] investigated the fate of DON during coagulation and found that a dual coagulation strategy (using alum + polymer) was slightly more efficient than coagulation using alum alone, as it improved DON removal by 15–20%. This was also confirmed by Krasner et al. [70]. According to the same paper, prechlorination and ozonation decreased NDMA formation potential. The survey of 16 US WTPs showed that the mean concentration of DON in plant influents was 0.29 mg N/L. On average, the treatment removed one third of the DON. The DON that remained was responsible for the formation of highly undesired nitrogenous DBPs, including NDMA. Four treatment processes [91] were examined for NDMA FP removal efficiency, but only filtration through biologically active carbon resulted in an unequivocal decrease of the parameter. Biodegradation also efficiently removed NDMA formed by ozonation [42]. Coagulation was shown to increase, as well as decrease, the formation potential. An increase of NDMA FP after coagulation was observed in the processes that apply organic flocculants [67]. Ozonation is generally believed to decrease NDMA FP, although its median efficiency in the 16 plants surveyed appeared to be barely 10%. In some cases, even a 46% increase of NDMA concentration was found. Japanese results from several water treatment plants also indicate that ozonation may increase NDMA concentrations in treated waters [42]. Another example of nitrosamine detection after ozonation can be found in the paper of Planas et al. [16] where an increase of NDMA concentration and formation of several other nitrosamines was observed. The general belief that oxidation decreases nitrosamine formation potential is based on the results of two papers by Lee et al. [93,94], where several NDMA suspected precursors (organic compounds with dimethylamine- or trimethylamine groups) were oxidized with relatively high doses of oxidants (ozone, chlorine dioxide, ferrate and hydroxyl radicals) and then reacted with chloramine. However, there are several reports that state that oxidation of DMA may lead to the formation of NDMA [41,95,96], particularly at a higher pH. Zhao et al.

[39] have also shown that raw water oxidation with chlorine dioxide or ozone may increase NDMA content in treated waters. Lime softening also gave equivocal results, increasing the potential in one case by 20% and decreasing it in another case by 12% [91]. The NDMA FP in drinking water treatment does not depend solely on the NDMA precursors. Other parameters of water may influence the formation of nitrosamines as well. For example, a temperature increase resulted in the formation of higher amounts of NDMA [67] and bromides also were shown to increase the formation of NDMA. Contrary to these two parameters, the presence of nitrites did not impact on nitrosamine formation [67]. The treatment of raw waters impacted by WWTP effluents may result in the formation of excessive amounts of NDMA upon chlorination. Krasner et al. [97] have shown that NDMA formation may be minimized when longer chlorination contact times are applied. For well-nitrified WWTP effluents, the NDMA formation potential during post chloramination depends only slightly on a CI:N ratio.

Water treatment processes have shown that both a decrease and an increase in NDMA FP are possible. Filtration through biologically active carbon consistently lower nitrosamine concentration. Coagulation may decrease NDMA FP but also may increase it, depending on the polymers used in the process. Ozonation gave various results, sometimes increasing NDMA FP and sometimes decreasing it. In general, the scarcity of data concerning particular processes does not enable any generalization.

8. Mechanisms of NDMA formation

The nitrosation of secondary amines is a well known reaction. The reaction pathways by means of N_2O_3 , H_2ONO^+/NO^+ and XNO species have been identified. The reaction proceeds at an acidic pH, and most rapidly at pH 3.4 [98]. The yield of nitrosation decreases sharply with increasing pH and is very low at a neutral or basic pH. However, several catalytic mechanisms of the reaction have been discovered. Photochemical reactions [99], formaldehyde [100] or fulvic acid [101] catalyzed reactions, may proceed at a neutral or even basic pH. The reader will find other examples of nitrosation reactions in nature in the review by Mitch et al. [1] There are also some theoretical papers predicting catalytic nitrosation of DMA in the presence of carbon dioxide and carbonyl compounds [102,103].

In all earlier observations, NDMA formation during water treatment was suspected to proceed by the nitrosation pathway. However, Najm and Trussel [55] were the first to notice that chloramination is responsible for nitrosamine formation. According to them [55], the rate constant of the nitrosation reaction and concentrations of the reagents (DMA and nitrites) indicated that the reaction would be extremely slow and could not be responsible for NDMA formation. A literature search revealed that chloramine reacts with dimethylamine relatively slowly, forming unsymmetrical dimethylhydrazine (UDMH). UDMH may be easily oxidized to various compounds, with NDMA among them, as a low yield by-product. In 2002, two research groups [104–107] demonstrated that the UDMH pathway may take place in chloraminated drinking waters. Mitch and Sedlak [104] proved that the maximum NDMA formation rates are between pH 6 and pH 8. Other experiments have shown that oxidation of UDMH is not a rate-determining step and that UDMH may be oxidized by chlorine, as well as by other oxidants. The proposed mechanism did not explain NDMA formation upon chlorination of DMA (in the absence of ammonia). Choi and Valentine [105] have confirmed that NDMA formation increased with increased monochloramine concentrations. They have also confirmed that chloramine is a source of the nitrogen in the NDMA molecule. In the same paper, they have also shown that nitrite and DMA at a pH 7 may form some NDMA, but that its yield is about one sixth of that of the chloramine-DMA reaction. Both groups rec-



Fig. 1. Formation of unsymmetrical dimethylhydrazine (UMDH) [104,105] (CDMA: chlorodimethylamine).

ognized monochloramine as being responsible for the oxidation of UDMH [104–107]. Thus, the model of NDMA formation that was proposed by the two groups consisted of the:

- formation of monochloramine, formation of dimethylhydrazine,
- oxidation of UDMH by monochloramine to NDMA,
- reversible chlorine transfer reaction between free chlorine/monochloramine and DMA (occurring along with the first two steps).

The reactions leading to formation of UMDH and further products of UMDH oxidation are illustrated in Figs. 1 and 2.

It soon appeared that, due to a very low molar yield of NDMA formation by the UDMH pathway. DMA concentrations could not account for the amounts of nitrosamine observed in real wastewater effluents. Thus, there had to be other NDMA precursors. To assess the ability of waters to generate NDMA, Mitch et al. [108] developed the first NDMA precursor test. A similar test was published by Dotson et al. [81]. Gerecke and Sedlak [53] also realized that DMA is not the single NDMA source and identified natural organic matter (NOM) as a possible nitrosamine precursor. However, they emphasized that NOM that was not influenced by WWTP effluents would not form excessive amounts of NDMA. Bromides, according to Gerecke and Sedlak [53], did not enhance NDMA formation. This statement was later found to be falsified, for example, in the paper of Krasner et al. [67]. The chlorination of DMA in the absence of ammonia, but in the presence of nitrite, was also shown to generate NDMA; the mechanism of the reaction has been well explained by Choi and Valentine [109]. The enhanced HOCl nitrosation pathway involves the formation of dinitrogen tetraoxide and nitrosation of DMA. The reaction is, however, slow and is not expected to contribute much in NDMA formation (see Fig. 3).



Fig. 2. Unsymmetrical dimethylhydrazine oxidation by-products.

HOCI + NO₂⁻
$$\Rightarrow$$
 NO₂CI + OH⁻
NO₂CI + NO₂⁻ \Rightarrow N₂O₄ + CI⁻
NO₂CI + OH⁻ \Rightarrow NO₃⁻ + H⁺ + CI⁻
H⁺ + NH₂CI + NO₂⁻ \Rightarrow NO₂CI + NH₃
(CH₃)₂NH + N₂O₄ \Rightarrow (CH₃)₂N-NO

Fig. 3. Nitrosation pathway as proposed by Choi and Valentine [109].

Schreiber and Mitch [110] modified the previous hypothetical mechanism of NDMA formation by demonstrating that NDMA formation depends on dichloramine, rather than monochloramine, concentration. According to the new hypothesis, dichloramine reacted with DMA, resulting in a chlorinated derivative of UDMH, which was subsequently oxidized by dissolved oxygen. The NDMA yield was shown to be positively related to the oxygen concentration. Thus, the new hypothesis of NDMA formation by chloramination of DMA was assumed to follow the reactions illustrated in Fig. 4.

Although Schreiber and Mitch [110] proved the importance of both dichloramine and dissolved oxygen for the formation of NDMA, the weak side of the hypothesis is the formation of a stronger oxidant (HOCl) upon the action of a weaker oxidant (O₂). The authors have, however, proved consistent enhancement of the formation of several nitrosamines (NDEA, NMOR, NPIP, and NPYR) upon the presence of both dichloramine and oxygen. This appears today to be a commonly accepted mechanism of NDMA formation upon chloramination of DMA aqueous solutions.

In real WWTP or WTP conditions, the formation of monochloramine exceeds the formation of dichloramine [111]. However, even at a neutral pH, low quantities of NHCl₂ may be responsible for 2–10 times greater generation of NDMA. Higher dichloramine concentrations are observed when chlorine is added to waters containing ammonia. When ammonia is added to prechlorinated water or wastewater, less NDMA may be generated. That is why efficient nitrification in wastewater treatment plants may also diminish the amounts of nitrosamine that are formed after final disinfection of the effluents. In general, water treatment plants should avoid conditions that are favorable for dichloramine formation.

Breakpoint chlorination has also attracted researchers' interest as it can obviously lead to conditions in which NDMA formation may occur, since the maximum concentrations of the reagents are observed near the breakpoint [111]. Furthermore, when chloramination is used for disinfection, unintentional nitrification in distribution system often leads to the formation of nitrites. The nitrites may enhance NDMA concentrations [112]. According to Schreiber and Mitch [112], nitrosamine formation will be much lower when breakpoint chlorination is conducted without significant free chlorine residual. Charrois et al. [18] have found that chlorine that was applied at doses of 0.6-0.8 Cl₂:N (NH₃) resulted in maximum NDMA formation. Prechlorination (before chloramination) with a contact time ca. 2h resulted in significant NDMA reductions compared to chloramination process without prechlorination. Such a strategy also appeared to be successful in the case of the minimization of NDMA concentrations in chloraminated wastewaters [97].

> $(CH_3)_2NH + HNCl_2 \leftrightarrows (CH_3)_2N-NHCl$ $(CH_3)_2N-NHCl + O_2 \leftrightarrows (CH_3)_2N-N=O + HOCl$

Fig. 4. NDMA formation mechanism modified by Schreiber and Mitch [110].



Fig. 5. Mechanism of NDMA formation by ozonation of DMA as proposed by Yang et al. [113].

Chlorination and chloramination are the main sources of NDMA in wastewaters and drinking waters. However, there have been several reports of NDMA formation upon the application of other strong oxidants, such as ozone, chlorine dioxide, KMnO₄ or ferrate (VI) [16,39,41,42,87–89,95,96]. In general, when oxidants are in contact with dimethylamine, part of the DMA is oxidized to nitrites and nitrates (formaldehyde and formic acids are also commonly detected). Thus, it is suspected that the reaction mechanism involves direct nitrosation. The yields of the reactions are small and pH-dependent. The ozonation of DMA forms NDMA with a yield of 0.4% at a pH 10.5. At a pH < 8 practically no NDMA can be expected. The reactions are likely to be of a radical type as the presence of tert-butyl alcohol strongly retards NDMA formation [89].

Permanganate was also shown to oxidize DMA, while generating small amounts of NDMA, particularly in the presence of nitrites [96]. NDMA formation was pH- and contact timedependent (a higher pH favored nitrosamine generation). However, MnO₂ appeared to catalyze NDMA formation. This seems to be a more important observation. It is also necessary to mention that all of the oxidants were shown to destroy part of the DMA to leave nitrites, nitrates, formaldehyde and formic acid. The formation of NDMA upon the ozonation of DMA was confirmed by Yang et al. [113]. They proposed a mechanism of NDMA formation that is based on the generation of hydroxylamine as a by-product of DMA oxidation. According to the hypothesis of Yang et al. [113], the formation of nitrosamines proceeds through UDMH formation and then oxidation of the hydrazine. The reaction paths are shown in Fig. 5.

There are some real examples of NDMA formation by the ozonation of wastewaters [87,88,91,114]. A few examples of NDMA formation during ozonation in drinking water treatment technology may also be found [16,42,91]. The formation of NDMA was also evidenced after the Clo_2 application [39] for the oxidation of raw waters. However, it seems today that other oxidants that are used in water treatment technology do not significantly threaten to contaminate drinking waters with nitrosamine. The oxidation of the potential nitrosamine precursors with ozone, chlorine dioxide and ferrate (VI) appeared to decrease substantially the NDMA formation potential in subsequent chloramination [93,94]. On the other hand, the ozonation of some commercial dyes with dimethylamine group was shown to generate NDMA [88].

Another possibility for NDMA formation, particularly in natural waters, was shown by Lee and Yoon [115]. NDMA formation may be induced by UV-A irradiation when DMA and nitrites are present in water. The reaction was enhanced by increasing the concentrations of the substrates, as well as by an alkali pH with the maximum yield observed at a pH 10. Radical scavengers and the presence of oxygen decreased NDMA formation.

Although chloramination is commonly blamed for the formation of NDMA, it is worth emphasising that the yield of the UMDH path is usually very low and does not exceed a few percent. In most water treatment plants, the UMDH path does not lead to NDMA concentrations that exceed California or Ontario regulations (see Tables 2–5). The yield of NDMA in the chloramine reaction with undefined NOM precursor seems to be higher than that with free (or rather protonated) amine (e.g., see [61]). Additionally, the yield of NDMA in a direct ozonation of DMA does not exceed ca. 1% [89]. However, the ozonation reactions with some known precursor molecules (e.g., dimethylsulfamide [87]) may lead to ca. 52% transformation of the compound to NDMA. Similarly, ozonation of some anti-yellowing factors led to NDMA formation with a 10-27% molecular conversion factor [88,90]. A particularly high molecular conversion of the ozonated compound to NDMA is observed when the dimethylamine group is connected to a nitrogen atom. (See the examples provided by Schmidt and Brauch [87] or by Oya et al. [88]) A very high NDMA yield is also observed when compounds that contain dimethylamine moiety are connected to another nitrogen atom through the sulfone $(-SO_2-)$ group [87]. Ozone destroys some dyes with dimethylamino groups with a high yield of DMA [116]. However, the overall conversions of the dyes to NDMA do not exceed 1% [88]. Therefore, the presence of dimethylamine group in the precursor compound does not seem to be the single condition that leads to the high NDMA yield upon ozonation [88]. NDMA yields from a variety of compounds upon ozonation are shown in Table 5.

Similar conclusions may be drawn from the results that were presented by Lee at al. [93,94] where releasing DMA from precursor molecules (as a result of oxidation) caused no increase in NDMA formation upon chloramination.

Although ozonation of some specific compounds was shown to lead to NDMA with high conversion factors, biological filtration, which usually follows ozonation, was fortunately shown to reduce NDMA concentrations [42,91]. On the other hand, the ozonation that is used in WWTPs may lead to the pollution of receiving waters with NDMA. Ozone is also used in modern swimming pools to destroy anthropogenic amines [117]. Thus, theoretically, some amounts of NDMA may also be expected in those facilities that apply ozonation. Very high ozone doses are applied for the oxidation of some industrial wastewaters [117]. It is also possible that we can discover some sources of NDMA there.

9. Destruction of the nitrosamines

Due to the toxicity of NDMA, the destruction and/or removal methods of the compound from water have also attracted the attention of researchers. Since nitrosamines are rather persistent chemicals, advanced oxidation processes (AOPs), photolytic methods, radiolytic destruction, chemical reduction and also biodegradation are currently being examined.

9.1. Photolytic reactions and advanced oxidation processes

The NDMA molecule strongly absorbs 225–250 nm radiation (with a maximum at λ = 238 nm ε_{mol} = 7380 L/M cm) [1]. However, the absorption is also pH-dependent [118,119]. Therefore, one might expect photolytic destruction to also depend on the solution's pH. Indeed, Xu et al. [118,120] have shown that an acidic pH favors the destruction of nitrosamine, while an alkali pH may substantially retard the process. The earlier work of Stefan and Bolton [121] indicated also that the photolytic destruction of NDMA is favored by acidic conditions. UV irradiation was also shown to readily degrade NPYR and NPIP [122]. NPIP photolysis was pH-dependent while NPYR degradation was independent of pH. Parent amines were the main byproducts of the photolysis. Further degradation led to simple primary alkylamines [122].

Free radical destruction of NDMA was shown to be a rather lowefficiency process due to the relatively slow reaction of the NDMA carbon-centered radicals with dissolved oxygen. The slowness of the process implied a regeneration of the parent compound [123]. Furthermore, the reactions with hydrated electrons were not effi-

Table 5

NDMA formation yields upon ozonation of several precursors.

| | Compound | Formula | NDMA yield upon ozonation | Reference |
|----|-------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------|
| 1. | Diaminozide | HN-N C, CH, HOOC-O | 55% | Schmidt and Brauch [87] |
| 2. | 1,1,-Dimethylhydrazine (UMDH) | H ₂ N—N CH ₃ | 80% | |
| 3. | Tolylfluanid | | 9% | |
| 4 | N,N-dimethyl-N'-p- tolylsulphamide (DMST) | | 15% | |
| 5 | 3-OH-DMST | | 25% | |
| 6 | OH-methyl-DMST | | 22% | |
| 7 | COOH-DMST | | 18% | |
| 8 | 20H-DMST | | 27% | |
| 9 | N,N-dimethylsulfamide (DMS) | 0 S H ₂ N CH ₃ | 52% | |
| 10 | 4,4'-Hexamethylene bis(1,1'-dimethyl semicarbazide) (HDMS,) | $H_{3}C$ H_{1} $H_{$ | 10% | Kosaka et al. [90] |

Table 5 (Continued)

| | Compound | Formula | NDMA yield upon ozonation | Reference |
|----|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------|
| 11 | 1,1,1',1'-Tetramethyl-4,4'- (methylene-di-p- phenylene)disemicarbazide (TMDS,) | H ₃ C N N CH ₃ CH ₃ HN CH ₃ CH ₃ HN CH ₃ | 27% | |
| 12 | Methylene blue (MB) | H ₃ C _N L CH ₃ CH ₃ CH ₃ CH ₃ CH ₃ | 8.3×10^{-3} | Oya et al. [88] |
| 13 | N,N-dimethylaminobenzene (DMAB) | | 6.4×10^{-3} | |
| 14 | N,N-dimethyl-p- phenylenediamine (DMPD) | N N NH ₂ | 4.3×10^{-2} | |
| 15 | Methyl orange (MO) | | $7.2 	imes 10^{-3}$ | |
| 16 | Methyl violet B (MVB) | CH ₃ H ₃ C ^N H ₃ C ^N | 1.2 × 10 ⁻² | |
| 17 | Auramine | H ₃ C N H ₃ C CH ₃ CH ₃ | 1.3 × 10 ⁻² | |
| 18 | Brilliant green (BG) | C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H_5 C_2H | <1.0 × 10 ⁻⁴ | |

Table 5 (Continued)



cient as the adduct anion transformed again to the parent NDMA. According to the results observed in electron pulse radiolysis of NDMA, the AOPs' perspectives for the reduction of nitrosamine concentration are not significant [123]. Electron-pulse radiolysis may effectively destroy higher nitrosamines [124]. Ozonation and AOPs that are based on ozone/hydrogen peroxide were investigated by Lee et al. [54]. Ozonation alone was found to be not sufficiently efficient-destroying barely 13% of NDMA at a neutral pH. The O_3/H_2O_2 process, on the other hand, was able to remove more than 80% of the NDMA in 5 min contact time. Xu et al. [125] also confirmed the low efficiency of ozonation for NDMA destruction. However, the UV/O₃ process was shown to be quite efficient. Split injections of the oxidants could improve the process efficiency. Methylamine was the main by-product of NDMA destruction by the ozone/H₂O₂ process [54]. However, in some natural waters, regeneration of NDMA was observed to lower the overall destruction ratio. Bromides may limit the application of the AOP's for nitrosamine destruction, due to a danger of bromate formation.

UV irradiation is almost as efficient in NMDA removal as the UV/O_3 process. However, there are substantial differences between the by-products of the two processes. DMA and nitrites are the main products of irradiation alone, while mainly nitrates are found after the AOP. Therefore, UV-irradiated waters may have a high NDMA regeneration potential upon subsequent chlorination [125]. The paper was further discussed in the literature [126,127].

Photolytic destruction of nitrosamines was also examined by Plumlee and Reinhard [128]. According to their model, photolysis seems to be a much more efficient method of NDMA destruction than biodegradation, even at relatively low levels of solar radiation. Plumlee and Reinhard [128] observed an average degradation of NDMA of 42% from tertiary WWTP effluents in solar channels with an 83 min residence time. The NDMA half-lives that were calculated for London's latitude should be about 8–38 h and shorter for equatorial latitudes. The values corresponded well to those reported by Pehlivanoglu-Mantas and Sedlak [50]. According to Chen et al. [51], solar photolysis appeared to be the main mechanism that decreases the concentration of NDMA in river waters.

The photocatalytic degradation of quaternary ammonium salts in TiO₂ suspensions led Kim and Choi [129] to observe that nitrogen-containing organic compounds were photocatalytically mineralized to nitrates (NO_3^-) and ammonia (NH_4^+) , which seems to be a unique property as they are both oxidized and reduced. A similar conclusion can be drawn from the results of UV/TiO2 degradation of NDMA. The mechanism of photocatalytic degradation of NDMA on TiO₂ and modified TiO₂ was also investigated by Lee et al. [130]. The degradation was initiated by hydroxyl radicals. The presence of oxalate enabled the reductive destruction of NDMA into DMA. The pH value was a key factor in determining the main degradation paths. Both silica-loaded and Nafion-coated TiO₂ favored the formation of DMA over methylamine (MA), while the fluorinated TiO₂ surface directed the NDMA destruction, mainly to the formation of MA. In a subsequent paper by the same group [131], NDMA photolytic destruction in oxygen-saturated solutions appeared to be more efficient than destruction in N₂₋saturated water. Xu et al. [118] also confirmed that NDMA photocatalytic destruction was more efficient in oxygen-saturated solutions. The presence of NOM slows the destruction of nitrosamines by UV radiation [118]. The

pulsed-UV process was found to be highly effective in destroying NDMA, since it delivered both continuous-wave UV, as well as higher intensity irradiation. However, other strongly UV absorbing species present in water, such as NOM and/or nitrates, could decrease the efficiency of the destruction [132].

To summarize, AOPs are expected to efficiently reduce NDMA concentration in the absence of bromides. Photolysis seems to be a very efficient way of NDMA removal from water. Solar photode-struction, in particular, could be used to remove nitrosamines from wastewater effluents. However, a high level of DOC and the presence of nitrates may decrease the efficiency of the photolysis. The presence of oxygen in the water enhances NDMA destruction.

9.2. Reverse osmosis (RO)

Reverse osmosis did not appear to be very efficient in NDMA rejection; typically a 50–65% removal (or less) from wastewater effluents was observed by Plumlee et al. [133]. However, the combination of RO with UV treatment enabled the achievement of final concentrations of NDMA that are lower than the California drinking water notification level of 10 ng/L. Due to the low molecular mass and polarity of the NDMA molecule, one cannot expect a high degree of rejection of the nitrosamine by RO membranes. Yet, when the nitrosamine molecular mass increases, rejection also increases. While only a 60% rejection rate was observed for NDMA, even a 92–98% removal may be expected for NDEA and a complete removal for NPIP, NMOR or NDBA [134].

9.3. Biodegradation and phytoremediation

The extent of the knowledge of NDMA biodegradation before 2003 was outlined by Mitch et al. [1]. At that time, there was a lack of clear evidence of the biodegradation of NDMA in ground waters and no data on the efficiency of NDMA removal by biologically active filters. Later results [42,91] proved the efficiency of the filters for the removal of nitrosamines during drinking water treatment. Aerobic biodegradation in ground waters may also remove substantial amounts of NDMA [47], although there are also some contradictory reports [135].

Zhou et al. [47] observed the fate of nitrosamine that has been discharged with water reclamation plant effluents to a system of surface and ground waters over 7 years and found that in situ biodegradation of NDMA occurs in ground waters. They clearly documented that ca. 80% of NDMA mass discharged with the effluents were biodegraded during a 600-day observation period. The biodegradation occurred under anaerobic conditions. According to Zhou et al. [47], the half-life of NDMA in the system was observed to be less than 70 days. Contrary to this well proved process of NDMA biodegradation, Patterson et al. [135] did not observe the destruction of nitrosamine (NDMA and NMOR) under anaerobic conditions, and according to them, the expected half-life of NDMA was longer than 100 days. Earlier research of Gunnison et al. [136] on the biodegradability of NDMA indicated a half-life of nitrosamine at about 12-38 days. The NDMA was likely to remain in the aqueous phase of the soil as it adsorbs negligibly. According to Gunnison et al. [136], biodegradation seems to be the major attenuation mechanism for nitrosamine in soils. However, the soils should

contain the necessary co-factors and nutrients to support microbial mineralization. Since NDMA environmental concentrations are very low, it is unlikely that bacteria would be able to sustain growth on nitrosamine as the primary substrate. Co-metabolic degradation, rather than metabolic degradation, should be expected to be the dominant degradation mechanism. Sharp et al. [137] have shown that a variety of monooxygenase-expressing organisms are capable of NDMA biodegradation.

Several strains of bacteria were found to transform NDMA to less harmful compounds in both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. *Pseudomonas mendocina* KR1 [138] was observed to oxidize (with atmospheric oxygen) NDMA to N-nitrodimethylamine, which was further metabolized to N-nitromethylamine. The strain was first grown on toluene. Aerobic biodegradation of NDMA was also possible by *Rhodococus ruber* ENV425 [139,140]. Rodococci are soil heterotrophs of the order *Actinomycetes*. The following by-products of the degradation have been identified: methylamine, nitric oxide, nitrite, nitrate and formate. The strain mineralized more than 60% of the NDMA carbon to CO₂. The enzyme responsible for NDMA degradation has been identified [140]. The very high efficiency of the nitrosamine destruction was emphasized.

NDMA bioreduction with H_2 as the electron donor in a membrane biofilm reactor was investigated by Chung et al. [141]. The paper shows that detoxification depends on the availability and pressure of H_2 . The NDMA degradation occurred rapidly under denitrifying conditions and with environmental inoculum.

The first attempts to determine NDMA removal efficiency by phytoremediation from soils irrigated with WWTP effluents were also mentioned in Mitch's review [1]. Yifru and Nzengung [142] examined black willow and hybrid poplar for the removal of NDMA. The transpiration of water appeared to be the main path of nitrosamine removal. Thus, higher removal rates were observed in summer months than in winter time. About half of the NDMA mass was phytovolatilized, while the other half could be recovered from leaves, stems and branches. The degradation of NDMA in landscape soils was found to depend on vegetation cover. The compound may be expected to persist longer in soils with sparse vegetation, low organic content and limited microbial activity [143]. However, in a subsequent paper by the same group, the fast decay of NDMA after irrigation was explained by volatilization, as barely 3% of labeled NDMA was incorporated into plants [144,145]. According to the observations above, irrigation of turf grass soils is not likely to contaminate ground waters that contain NDMA, despite the very high concentrations of NDMA in WWTP effluents [144,145]. Yet, Haruta et al. [146] found that irrigation of soils by reclaimed wastewaters may pollute ground waters when the hydraulic conductivity of the soils is high.

In summary, NDMA can only be co-metabolized, while monooxygenaze enzymes are responsible for its removal. Biodegradation may be expected by various natural bacteria consortia, but the process seems to require relatively long retention times. The phytoremediation of NDMA-polluted soils seems to be possible, but the vegetation cover determines the efficiency of the process. However, sparse vegetation and high hydraulic conductivity of soils may lead to the contamination of ground waters that contain NDMA as the compound does not adsorb to soils.

9.4. Chemical reduction of NDMA

Another possible way to remove NDMA from water is by chemical (catalytic) reduction. Such a pathway of nitrosamine removal could be applied to polluted ground waters (e.g., by permeable reactive barriers) or WWTP effluents. The use of zero-valent iron as a reductor for the removal of NDMA was attempted. However, much better results have been achieved with Ni-plated iron [147,148]. DMA and ammonia were found to be the main by-products of the reduction. The gradual loss of Ni/Fe reactivity was observed in a continuous experiment.

Davie et al. [149] studied catalytic reduction of NDMA by hydrogen gas over metallic and bimetallic catalysts. A high efficiency of reduction was observed. In a subsequent work by the same group [150], a bimetallic catalyst (Pd/In) appeared to be more efficient than the catalyst based on Pd. It is necessary to note that the experiments were carried out in pure aqueous solutions of NDMA and, therefore, the influence of normal water constituents on the reaction efficiency has not been assessed. Frierdrich et al. [151] have shown that porous Ni catalyst (Raney Ni) is highly efficient in the reduction of NDMA by H₂. Raney Ni is, however, very inconvenient to use due to its sensitivity to air oxygen. A typical NDMA half-life in H₂/catalyst conditions was only 1.5 min. Furthermore, the presence of NOM and the majority of common ions in water have not affected the removal efficiency. Bicarbonates could decrease the rate of nitrosamine reduction by 40–50%. Additionally, very high concentrations of nitrates (much higher than their usual presence in water) could be detrimental for NDMA removal. To avoid difficulties with the application of Raney Ni catalyst, the same group proposed to use Ni catalyst amended with boron [152]. Ni/B catalyst is characterized by a lower surface area than Raney Ni, but appears to be equally efficient in H₂ reduction of nitrosamine. Catalytic NDMA reduction with H₂ leaves DMA and nitrogen as the main byproducts.

At this stage of research in the field, it is difficult to judge the technological applicability of the processes for NDMA removal.

10. Conclusions

Nitrosamines, and particularly NDMA, due to their carcinogenic properties may pose some threat to drinking water consumers. However according to Fristachi and Rice [153] exposure of U.S. population on NDMA in finished drinking water is low relative to other ingestion route NDMA sources. The occurrence of NDMA in drinking water may be caused by the pollution of raw waters by nitrosamine or the formation of nitrosamine during water treatment processes. Chloramination has been proved to be the main source of NDMA in drinking water. The formation of nitrosamine during water (or wastewater) treatment requires the presence of N-containing precursors. The precursors are the most mysterious part of the nitrosamine formation process. Dimethylamine rarely seems to be the only or most important NDMA precursor.

Ozonation (and other oxidants) may also be responsible for the formation of appreciable amounts of NMDA, particularly when certain precursors are available in treated waters. Fortunately, biological filtration, which usually follows ozonation in drinking water technology, removes most of the nitrosamine.

NDMA (and other nitrosamines) may be present in wastewater influents from two sources—human excretion and industrial wastewaters. Wastewaters may also contain a variety of NDMA precursors—identified and unidentified. Furthermore, treated wastewaters may pollute receiving waters with NDMA and/or NDMA precursors. NDMA was shown to disappear in natural systems due to photolytic destruction or biodegradation, but NDMA precursors are much more persistent in the environment. Thus, wastewater effluents may pose some threat to water treatment facilities that are located downstream.

There are not many research papers concerning the occurrence of NDMA in European drinking waters. However, the presence of NDMA in our waters seems to be less probable due to the different approach to water treatment in Europe. The drinking water in many western European cities is treated to become biostable and therefore requires no final disinfection. In Eastern Europe, chlorination (or $Cl_2 + ClO_2$) is used for final disinfection. Ozonation may pose some danger of NDMA formation in both drinking and wastewater treatment, but only in the presence of certain precursors. So far, this research field has been only partially explored. Several methods of nitrosamine destruction are currently under investigation. Photolytic methods seem to have the greatest potential for application.

Research needs

Limiting the risk associated with the presence of nitrosamines in drinking water seems to be the main target of research that is focused on compounds in water technology. Much work has been done so far, but some fields still have been insufficiently explored.

On the basis of the literature reviewed, the following research needs may be identified:

- 1. Nothing is known about NDMA pollution of surface or ground waters in Europe.
- 2. Systematic research on the presence of secondary amines in surface waters is possibly needed. Also, the behavior of secondary amines during various processes of drinking water treatment is largely unknown.
- 3. The identification of specific N-containing compounds that are present in aqueous NOM (particularly those present in the hydrophilic base fraction) that can be easily oxidized to NDMA should be undertaken.
- 4. More research is necessary on the NDMA removal efficiency of particular processes in drinking water treatment technology. The current results are too limited and equivocal.
- 5. Due to some controversies concerning NDMA formation from N-containing flocculants, more research in this field is necessary.
- 6. The identification of the N-containing NDMA precursors (responsible for NDMA formation potential) that are present in wastewaters would be helpful.
- 7. The removal of NDMA precursors in wastewater treatment technology requires more research.

References

- W.A. Mitch, J.O. Sharp, R.R. Trussell, R.L. Valentine, L. Alvarez-Cohen, D.L. Sedlak, N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) as a drinking water contaminant: a review, J. Environ. Eng. Sci. 20 (2003) 389–404.
- [2] W.I. Kimoto, C.J. Dooley, J. Carre, W. Fiddler, Role of strong ion exchange resins in nitrosamine formation in water, Water Res. 14 (1980) 869–876.
- [3] W. Fiddler, J.W. Pensabene, R.C. Doerr, C.J. Dooley, The presence of dimethyland diethyl-nitrosamines in deionized water, Food Cosmet. Toxicol. 15 (1977) 441–443.
- [4] T.A. Gough, K.S. Webb, M.F. McPhail, Volatile nitrosamines from ion exchange resins, Food Cosmet. Toxicol. 15 (1977) 437–440.
- [5] B. Nicholson, NDMA-an emerging issue for the water industry, Water 33 (6) (2006) 46-51.
- [6] S.W. Krasner, The formation and control of emerging disinfection by-products of health concern, Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A 367 (2009) 4077–4095.
- [7] S.D. Richardson, Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues, Anal. Chem. 81 (2009) 4645–4677.
- [8] S.D. Richardson, Environmental mass spectrometry: emerging contaminants and current issues, Anal. Chem. 82 (2010) 4742–4774.
- [9] S.S. Walse, W.A. Mitch, Nitrosamine carcinogens also swim in chlorinated pools, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 1032–1037.
- [10] B. Jurado-Sánchez, E. Ballesteros, M. Gallego, Screening of N-nitrosamines in tap and swimming pool waters using fast gas chromatography, J. Sep. Sci. 33 (2010) 610–616.
- [11] M.G. Muellner, E.D. Wagner, K. McCalla, S.D. Richardson, Y.-T. Woo, M.J. Plewa, Haloacetonitriles vs. regulated haloacetic acids: are nitrogen-containing DBPs more toxic? Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 645–651.
- [12] L-S. Wang, H.-Y. Hu, C. Wang, Effect of ammonia nitrogen and dissolved organic matter fractions on the genotoxicity of wastewater effluent during chlorine disinfection, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 160–165.
- [13] California Department of Public Health (www.cdph.ca.gov/certlic/ drinkingwater/Documents/Notificationlevels/NotificationLevels.pdf), last accessed: June 29, 2010.
- [14] Ministry of Environment, Ontario, Canada (www.ene.gov.on.ca/ envision/gp/4449e.pdf), last accessed: June 29, 2010.

- [15] Drinking Water Inspectorate, Guidance on the Water Supply (Water Quality) Regulations 2000 specific to N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) concentrations in drinking water.
- [16] C. Planas, Ó. Palacios, F. Ventura, J. Rivera, J. Caixach, Analysis of nitrosamines in water by automated SPE and isotope dilution GC/HRMS. Occurrence in the different steps of a drinking water treatment plant, and in chlorinated samples from a reservoir and a sewage treatment plant effluent, Talanta 76 (2008) 906–913.
- [17] J.M. Barnes, P.N. Magee, Some toxic properties of dimethylnitrosamine, Br. J. Ind. Med. 11 (1954) 167–174.
- [18] J.W.A. Charrois, J.M. Boyd, K.L. Froese, S.E. Hrudey, Occurence of Nnitrosoamines in Alberta public drinking-water distribution systems, J. Environ. Eng. Sci. 6 (2007) 103–114.
- [19] Y.-Y. Zhao, J. Boyd, S.E. Hrudey, X.-F. Li, Characterization of new nitrosamines in drinking water using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry, Environ. Sci. Technol. 40 (24) (2006) 7636–7641.
- [20] W.-J. Zhou, J.M. Boyd, F. Qin, S.E. Hrudey, X.-F. Li, Formation of Nnitrosodiphenylamine and two new N-containing disinfection byproducts from chlorination of water containing diphenylamine, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2008) 8443–8448.
- [21] US EPA (http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/iris/index.cfm?fuseaction=iris.show SubstanceList&list_type=alpha&view=N), last accessed: June 29, 2010.
- [22] S. Ventanas, J. Ruiz, On-site analysis of volatile nitrosamines in food model system by solid-phase microextraction coupled a direct extraction device, Talanta 70 (2006) 1017–1023.
- [23] A. Wilczak, A. Assadi-Rad, H.H. Lai, L.L. Hoover, J.F. Smith, R. Berger, F. Rodigari, J.W. Beland, LJ. Lazzelle, E.G. Kincannon, H. Baker, C.T. Heany, Formation of NDMA in chloraminated water coagulated with DAMAC cationic polymer, JAWWA 95 (9) (2003) 94–106.
- [24] J.W.A. Charrois, S.E. Hrudey, Breakpoint chlorination and free-chlorine contact time: implications for drinking water N-nitrosodimethylamine concentrations, Water Res. 41 (3) (2007) 674–682.
- [25] S. Barrett, C. Hwang, Y. Guo, S.A. Andrews, R. Valentine, Occurrence of NDMA in drinking water: a North American survey, 2001–2002, in: AWWA Annual Conference, Anaheim, CA, AWWA, Denver, CO, USA, 2003.
- [26] N.V. Komarova, A.A. Velicanov:, Determination of volatile N-nitrosamines in food by high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection, Anal. Chem. 56 (4) (2001) 359–363.
- [27] L. Cárdenes, J.H. Ayala, V. González, A.M. Afonso:, Fast microwave-assisted dansylation of N-nitrosamines. Analysis by high-performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection, J. Chromatogr. A 946 (2002) 133–140.
- [28] T. Perez-Ruiz, C. Martinez-Lozano, V. Tomas, J. Mart, Automated solid-phase extraction and high-performance liquid chromatographic determination of nitrosamines using post-column photolysis and tris(2,2"-bipiridyl) ruthenium(III) chemiluminescence, J. Chromatogr. A 1077 (2005) 49–56.
- [29] J.B. Noffsinger, N.D. Danielson, Generation of chemiluminescence upon reaction of aliphatic amines with tris(2,2'-bipyridine)ruthenium (III), Anal. Chem. 59 (1987) 865–868.
- [30] B.A. Tomkins, W.H.C.E. Griest, C.E. Higgins, Determination of Nnitrosodimethylamine at part-per-trillion concentrations in contaminated groundwaters and drinking waters featuring carbo-based membrane extraction disks, Anal Chem. 67 (1995) 4387–4395.
- [31] B.A. Tomkins, W.H. Griest:, Determination of N-nitrosodimethylamine at part-per-trillion concentrations in contaminated groundwaters and drinking waters featuring carbo-based membrane extraction disks, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 2533–2540.
- [32] J.W.A. Charrois, M.W. Arend, K.L. Froese, S.E. Hrudey, Detecting Nnitrosamines in drinking water at nanogram per liter levels using ammonia positive chemical ionization, Environ. Sci. Technol. 38 (18) (2004) 4835–4841.
- [33] M. Krauss, J. Hollender:, Analysis of nitrosamines in wastewater: exploring the trace level quantification capabilities of a hybrid linear ion trap/orbitrap mass spectrometer, Anal. Chem. 80 (2008) 834–842.
- [34] R.C. Cheng, C.J. Hwang, C. Andrews -Tate, G. Yingbo, S. Carr, I.H. Suffet, Alternative methods for the analysis of NDMA and other nitrosamines in water, JAWWA 98 (12) (2006) 82–96.
- [35] J.W. Munch, M.V. Bassett, Method development for the analysis of Nnitrosodimethylamine and other N-nitrosamines in drinking water at low nanogram/liter concentrations using solid-phase extraction and gas chromatography with chemical ionization tandem mass spectrometry, J. AOAC Int. 89 (2) (2006) 486–497.
- [36] J.E. Grebel, C.C. Young, I.H. Suffet, Solid-phase microextraction of Nnitrosamines, J. Chromatogr. A 1117 (2006) 11–18.
- [37] S.W. Jenkins, C.J. Koester, V.Y. Taguchi, D.T. Wang, J.P. Palmentier, K.P. Hong:, N-nitrosodimethylamine in drinking water using a rapid, solid-phase extraction method, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 2 (4) (1995) 207–210.
- [38] L. Padhye, P. Wang, T. Karanfil, C.-H. Huang, Unexpected role of activated carbon in promoting transformation of secondary amines to *N*-nitrosamines, Environ. Sci. Technol. 44 (2010) 4161–4168.
- [39] Y.-Y. Zhao, J.M. Boyd, M. Woodbeck, R.C. Andrews, F. Qin, S.E. Hrudey, X.-F. Li, Formation of N-nitrosamines from eleven disinfection treatments of seven different surface waters, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 4857–4862.
- [40] California Department of Public Health http://www.cdph.ca.gov/ certlic/drinkingwater/Documents/NDMA/NDMAstudies.pdf (last accessed: June 29, 2010).

- [41] P. Andrzejewski, B. Kasprzyk-Hordern, J. Nawrocki, The hazard of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation during water disinfection with strong oxidants, Desalination 176 (2005) 37–45.
- [42] M. Asami, M. Oya, K. Kosaka, A nationwide survey of NDMA in raw and drinking water in Japan, Sci. Total Environ. 407 (2009) 3540–3545.
- [43] M. Krauss, P. Longrée, F. Dorusch, C. Ort, J. Hollender, Occurrence and removal of N-nitrosamines in wastewater treatment plants, Water Res. 43 (2009) 4381–4391.
- [44] P. Levallois, P. Ayotte, J.M.S. van Maanen, T. Desrosierst, S. Gingras, J.W. Dallinga, I.T.M. Vermeer, J. Zee, G. Poirier, Excretion of volatile nitrosamines in a rural population in relation to food and drinking water consumption, Food. Chem. Toxicol. 38 (2000) 1013–1019.
- [45] L. Padhye, U. Tezel, W.A. Mitch, S.G. Pavlostatis, C.-H. Huang, Occurrence and fate of nitrosamines and their precursors in municipal sludge and anaerobic digestion systems, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 3087–3093.
- [46] S.W. Krasner, P. Westerhoff, B. Chen, B.E. Rittmann, G. Amy, Occurrence of disinfection byproducts in United States wastewater treatment plant effluents, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 8320–8325.
- [47] Q. Zhou, S. McCraven, J. Garcia, M. Gasca, T.A. Johnson, W.E. Motzer, Field evidence of biodegradation of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) in groundwater with incidental and active recycled water recharge, Water Res. 43 (3) (2009) 793–805.
- [48] D.L. Sedlak, R.A. Deeb, E.L. Hawley, W.A. Mitch, T.D. Durbin, S. Mowbray, S. Carr, Sources and fate of nitrosodimethylamine and its precursors in municipal water treatment plants, Water Environ. Res. 77 (1) (2005) 32–39.
- [49] E. Pehlivanoglu-Mantas, E.L. Hawley, R.A. Deeb, D.L. Sedlak, Formation of nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) during chlorine disinfection of wastewater effluents prior to use in irrygation systems, Water Res. 40 (2006) 341–347.
- [50] E. Pehlivanoglu-Mantas, D.L. Sedlak, The fate of the wastewater-derived NDMA precursors in the aquatic environment, Water Res. 40 (2006) 1287–1293.
- [51] B. Chen, P. Westerhoff, S.W. Krasner, Fate and Tranport of wastewater derived disinfection by-products in surface waters, in: T. Karanfil, S.W. Krasner, P. Westerhoff, Y. Xie (Eds.), Disinfection By-Products in Drinking Water; Occurence, Formation, Health Effect and Control, ACS Symposium Series, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, 2008 (Chapter 18).
- [52] Z. Chen, R.L. Valentine, Modeling the formation of N-nitrosodimethylamine from the reaction of natural organic matter (NOM) with monochloramine, Environ. Sci. Technol. 40 (2006) 7290–7297.
- [53] A.C. Gerecke, D.L. Sedlak, Precursors of N-nitrosodimethylamine in natural waters, Environ. Sci. Technol. 37 (2003) 1331–1336.
- [54] C. Lee, J. Yoon, U. von Gunten, Oxidative degradation of Nnitrosodimethylamine by conventional and the advanced oxidation process ozone/hydrogen peroxide, Water Res. 41 (2007) 581–590.
- [55] I. Najm, R.R. Trussell, NDMA formation in water and wastewater, JAWWA 93 (2) (2001) 92–99.
- [56] F. Sacher, S. Lenz, H.-J. Brauch, Analysis of primary and secondary aliphatic amines in waste water and surface water by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry after derivatization with 2,4-dinitrofluorobenzene or benzenosulfonyl chloride, J. Chromatogr. A 764 (1997) 85–93.
- [57] L. Cai, Y. Zhao, S. Gong, L. Dong, C. Wu, Use of a novel sol-gel dibenzo-18crown-6 solid-phase microextraction fiber and a new derivatizing reagent for determination of aliphatic amines in lake water and human urine, Chromatographia 58 (2003) 615–621.
- [58] Y.-Y. Zhao, L.-S. Cai, Z.-Z. Jing, H. Wang, J.-X. Yu, H.-S. Zhang, Determination of aliphatic amines using N-succinimidyl benzoate as a new derivatization reagent in gas chromatography combined with solid-phase microextraction, J. Chromatogr. A 1021 (2003) 175–181.
- [59] M. Ábalos, J.M. Bayona, F. Ventura, Development of a solid-phase microextraction GC-NPD procedure for the determination of free volatile amines in wastewater and sewage-polluted waters, Anal. Chem. 71 (1999) 3531–3537.
- [60] R.S. Boethling, M. Alexander, Microbial degradation of organic compounds at trace levels, Environ. Sci. Technol. 13 (8) (1979) 989–991.
- [61] Z. Chen, R.L. Valentine, Formation of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from humic substances in natural water, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 6059–6065.
- [62] W. Lee, P. Westerhoff, J.-P. Croue, Dissolved organic nitrogen as a precursor for chloroform, dichloroacetonitrile, N-nitrosodimethylamine, and trichloronitromethane, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (15) (2007) 5485–5490.
- [63] W.A. Mitch, D.L. Sedlak, Characterization and fate of N-nitrosodimethylamine precursors in municipal wastewater treatment plants, Environ. Sci. Technol. 38 (5) (2004) 1445–1454.
- [64] I.M. Schreiber, W.A. Mitch, Occurrence and fate of nitrosamines and nitrosamine precursors in wastewater-impacted surface waters with boron as a conservative tracer, Environ. Sci. Technol. 40 (2006) 3203–3210.
- [65] D.J. Barker, D.C. Stuckey, A review of soluble microbial products (SMP) in wastewater treatment systems, Water Sci. Technol. 33 (14) (1999) 3063.
- [66] S.W. Krasner, W. Mitch, P. Westerhoff, A. Dotson, Occurrence of emerging DBPs in wastewater or algal impacted drinking waters, in: American Water Works Association Water Quality Technology Conference, Atlanta, GA, USA, 2008.
- [67] S.W. Krasner, M. Prescot, E.A. Garcia, M.S. Dale, S.M. Labernik, T. Yun, Factors affecting the formation of NDMA, in: American Water Works Association Annual Conference and Exhibition, 2009.

- [68] W. Lee, P. Westerhoff, M. Esparza-Soto, Occurrence and removal of dissolved organic nitrogen in US water treatment plants, JAWWA 98 (10) (2006) 102–110.
- [69] B. Hua, K. Veum, A. Koirala, J. Jones, T. Clevenger, B. Deng, Fluorescence fingerprints to monitor total trihalomethanes and N-nitrosodimethylamine formation potentials in water, Environ. Chem. Lett. 5 (2007) 73–77.
- [70] S.W. Krasner, E.A. Garcia, M.S. Dale, S.M. Labernik, T.I. Yun, Source and removal of NDMA precursors, in: American Water Works Association Annual Conference and Exhibition, Atlanta, GA, USA, 2008.
- [71] E. Pehlivanoglu-Mantas, D.L. Sedlak, Wastewater-derived dissolved organic nitrogen: analytical methods. Characterization and effects—a review, Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 36 (2006) 261–285.
- [72] M.J. Plewa, E.D. Wagner, P. Jazwierska, S.D. Richardson, P.H. Chen, A.B. McKague, Halonitromethane drinking water disinfection byproducts: chemical characterization and mammalian cell cytotoxicity and genotoxicity, Environ. Sci. Technol. 38 (2004) 62–68.
- [73] X. Yang, Ch. Shang, P. Westerhoff:, Factors affecting formation of haloacetonitriles, haloketones, chloropicrin and cyanogen halides during chloramination, Water Res. 41 (2007) 1193–1200.
- [74] J.H. Sharp, K.R. Rinker, K.B. Savidge, J. Abell, J.Y. Benaim, D. Bronk, D.J. Burdige, G. Cauwet, W. Chen, M.D. Doval, D. Hansell, C. Hopkinson, G. Kattner, N. Kaumeyer, K.J. McGlathery, J. Merriam, N. Morley, K. Nagel, H. Ogawa, C. Pollard, M. Pujo-Pay, P. Raimbault, R. Sambrotto, S. Seitzinger, G. Spyres, F. Tirendi, T.W. Walsh, C.S. Wong, A preliminary methods comparison for measurement of dissolved organic nitrogen in seawater, Mar. Chem. 78 (2002) 171–184.
- [75] W. Lee, P. Westerhoff, Dissolved organic nitrogen measurement using dialysis pretreatment, Environ. Sci. Technol. 39 (2005) 879–884.
- [76] J. Kemper, P. Westerhoff, A. Dotson, W.A. Mitch, Nitrosamine, dimethylnitramine, and chloropicrin formation during strong base anion-exchange treatment, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 466–472.
- [77] K.D. Kohut, S.A. Andrews, Polyelectrolyte age and N-nitrosodimethylamine formation in drinking water, Water Qual. Res. J. Can. 38 (4) (2003) 719–735.
- [78] S.H. Park, S. Wei, B. Mizaikoff, A.E. Taylor, C. Favero, C.-H. Huang, Degradation of amine-based water treatment polymers during chloramination as N-nitrosodimethyloamine (NDMA) precursors, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 1360–1366.
- [79] S.H. Park, P. Piyachaturawat, A.E. Taylor, C.-H. Huang:, Potential Nnitrosodimethylamine formation from amine-based water treatment polymers in the reactions with chlorine-based oxidants and nitrosifying agents, Water Sci. Technol. Water Supply 9 (3) (2009) 279–288.
- [80] J. Kemper, S.S. Walse, W.A. Mitch, Quaternary amines as nitrosamine precursors: a role for consumer products, Environ. Sci. Technol. 44 (2010) 1224–1231.
- [81] A. Dotson, P. Westerhoff, S.W. Krasner, Nitrogen enriched dissolved organic matter (DOM) isolates and their affinity to form emerging disinfection byproducts, Water Sci. Technol. 60 (1) (2009) 135–143.
- [82] S.W. Krasner, P. Westerhoff, B. Chen, B.E. Rittmann, S.-N. Nam, G. Amy, Impact of wastewater treatment processes on organic carbon, organic nitrogen, and DBP precursors in effluent organic matter, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 2911–2918.
- [83] F. Muñoz, C. von Sonntag, The reactions of ozone with tertiary amines including the complexing agents nitrilotriacetic acid (NTA) and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) in aqueous solution, J. R. Soc. Chem. Perkin Trans. 2 (2000) 2029–2033.
- [84] W. Mitch, M. Schreiber, Degradation of tertiary alkylamines during chlorination/chloramination: implications for formation of aldehydes, nitriles, halonitroalkanes, and nitrosamines, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (13) (2008) 4811–4817.
- [85] W.-H. Chen, T.M. Young, NDMA formation during chlorination and chloramination of aqueous diuron solutions, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 1072–1077.
- [86] W.-H. Chen, T.M. Young, Influence of nitrogen source on NDMA formation during chlorination of diuron, Water Res. 43 (2009) 3047–3056.
- [87] C.K. Schmidt, H.-J. Brauch:, N,N-dimethylsulfamide as precursor for Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation upon ozonation and its fate during drinking water treatment, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (17) (2008) 6340–6346.
- [88] M. Oya, K. Kosaka, M. Asami, S. Kunikane, Formation of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) by ozonation of dyes and related compounds, Chemosphere 73 (2008) 1724–1730.
- [89] P. Andrzejewski, B. Kasprzyk-Hordern, J. Nawrocki, N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation during ozonation of dimethylamine-containing waters, Water Res. 42 (2008) 863–870.
- [90] K. Kosaka, M. Asami, Y. Kono, M. Oya, S. Kunikane, Identification of antiyellowing agents as precursors of N-nitrosodimethylamine on ozonation from sewage treatment plant influent, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 5236–5524.
- [91] S.W. Krasner, W. Mitch, P. Westerhoff, A. Dotson, Control of N-DBP precursors: how does that compare to the control of THM precursors? in: American Water Works Association Annual Conference and Exhibition, Atlanta, GA, USA, 2008.
- [92] W. Lee, P. Westerhoff:, Dissolved organic nitrogen removal during water treatment by aluminium sulfate and cationic polymer coagulation Water Res. 40 (2006) 3767–3774.
- [93] C. Lee, C. Schmidt, J. Yoon, U. von Gunten, Oxidation of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) precursors with ozone and chlorine dioxide: kinetics and effect on NDMA formation potential, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 2056–2063.

- [94] C. Lee, Y. Lee, C. Schmidt, J. Yoon, U. von Gunten, Oxidation of suspected N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) precursors by ferrate (VI) kinetics and effect on NDMA formation potential of natural waters, Water Res. 42 (2008) 433–441.
- [95] P. Andrzejewski, J. Nawrocki:, N-nitrosodimethylamine formation during treatment with strong oxidants of dimethylamine containing water, Water Sci. Technol. 56 (2007) 125–131.
- [96] P. Andrzejewski, J. Nawrocki, N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) as a product of potassium permanganate reaction with aqueous solutions of dimethylamine (DMA), Water Res. 43 (2009) 1219–1228.
- [97] S.W. Krasner, M.S. Sclimenti, C.F.T. Lee, J. Schramm, Formation of nitrosamines in effluent-impacted drinking waters, in: T. Karanfil, S.W. Krasner, P. Westerhoff, Y. Xie (Eds.), Disinfection By-Products in Drinking Water; Occurence, Formation, Health Effect and Control, ACS Symposium Series, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, 2008 (Chapter 21).
- [98] D.L.H. Williams, Nitrosation Reaction and the Chemistry of Nitric Oxide, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2004.
- [99] T. Ohta, J. Suzuki, Y. Iwano, S. Suzuki: Photochemical nitrosation of dimethylamine in aqueous solution containing nitrite, Chemosphere 11 (8) (1982) 797–801.
- [100] L.K. Keefer, P.P. Roller, N-nitrosation by nitrite ion in neutral and basic medium, Science 181 (1976) 1245–1247.
- [101] S.V.R. Weerasooriya, C.B. Dissanayake, The enhanced formation of Nnitrosamines in fulvic acid mediated environment, Toxicol. Environ. Chem. 25 (1989) 57–62.
- [102] C.L. Lv, Y.D. Liu, R. Zhong, Y. Wang:, Theoretical studies on formation of Nnitrosodimethylamine, J. Mol. Struct. Theochem. 802 (2007) 1–6.
- [103] C.L. Lv, Y.D. Liu, R. Zhong, Theoretical investigation of Nnitrosodimethylamine formation from dimethylamine nitrosation catalyzed by carbonyl compounds, J. Phys. Chem. US 113 (2009) 713–718.
- [104] W.A. Mitch, D.L. Sedlak, Formation of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from dimethylamine during chlorination, Environ. Sci. Technol. 36 (2002) 588–595.
- [105] J. Choi, R.L. Valentine, Formation of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from reaction of monochloroamine: a new disinfection by-product, Water Res. 36 (2002) 817–824.
- [106] J. Choi, R.L. Valentine:, A Kinetic model of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation during water chlorination/chloramination, Water Sci. Technol. 46 (3) (2002) 65.
- [107] J. Choi, S.E. Duirk, R.L. Valentine, Mechanistic studies of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) formation in chlorinated drinking water, J. Environ. Monit. 4 (2002) 249–252.
- [108] W.A. Mitch, A.C. Gerecke, D.L. Sedlak:, A N-Nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) precursor analysis for chlorination of water and wastewater, Water Res. 37 (2003) 3733–3741.
- [109] J. Choi, R.L. Valentine, N-nitrosodimethylamine formation by free-chlorineenhanced nitrosation of dimethylamine, Environ. Sci. Technol. 37 (2003) 4871–4876.
- [110] M. Schreiber, W.A. Mitch:, Nitrosamine formation pathway revisited. The importance of chloramine speciation and dissolved oxygen, Environ. Sci. Technol. 40 (2006) 6007–6014.
- [111] M. Schreiber, W.A. Mitch, Influence of the order of reagent addition on NDMA formation during chloramination, Environ. Sci. Technol. 39 (10) (2005) 3811–3818.
- [112] M. Schreiber, W.A. Mitch, Enhanced nitrogenous disinfection by-product formation near the breakpoint: implications for nitrification control, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 7039–7046.
- [113] L. Yang, Z. Chen, J. Shen, Z. Xu, H. Liang, J. Tian, Y. Ben, X. Zhai, W. Shi, G. Li, Reinvestigation of the nitrosamine-formation mechanism during ozonation, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 5481–5487.
- [114] J. Hollender, S.G. Zimmermann, S. Koepke, M. Krauss, C.S. McArdell, C. Ort, H. Singer, U. von Gunten, H. Siegriest, Elimination of organic micropollutants in a municipal wastewater treatment plant upgraded with a full-scale post-ozonation followed by sand filtration, Environ. Sci. Technol. 43 (2009) 7862–7869.
- [115] C. Lee, J. Yoon, UV-A induced photochemical formation of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) in the presence of nitrite and dimethylamine, J. Photochem. Photobiol. A 189 (2007) 128–134.
- [116] P. Andrzejewski, 2010, unpublished results.
- [117] Water Treatment Handbook, VIIth ed., Degremont, Rueil-Malmaison Cedex, France, 2007.
- [118] B. Xu, Z. Chen, F. Qi, J. Shen, F. Wu, Factors influencing the photodegradation of N-nitrosodimethylamine in drinking water, Front. Environ. Sci. Eng. China 3 (1) (2009) 91–97.
- [119] C. Lee, W. Choi, Y.G. Kim, J. Yoon, UV photolytic mechanism of Nnitrosodimethylamine in water: dual pathways to methylamine versus dimethylamine, Environ. Sci. Technol. 39 (7) (2005) 2101–2106.
- [120] B. Xu, Z. Chen, F. Qi, J. Shen, F. Wu, Degradation of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) in water by UV/O₃, J. Water Supply Res. Technol. 58 (2) (2009) 135–145.
- [121] M.L. Stefan, J.R. Bolton, UV direct photolysis of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA): kinetic and product study, Helv. Chim. Acta 85 (2002) 1416–1426.
- [122] B. Xu, Z. Chen, F. Qi, J. Ma, F. Wu, Rapid degradation of new disinfection byproducts in drinking water by UV irradiation: N-nitrosopyrrolidine and Nnitrosopiperidine, Sep. Purif. Technol. 69 (2009) 126–133.

- [123] S.P. Mezyk, W.J. Cooper, K.P. Madden, D.M. Bartels, Free radical destruction of N-nitrosodimethylamine in water, Environ. Sci. Technol. 38 (11) (2004) 3161–3167.
- [124] N.A. Landsman, K.L. Swancutt, C.N. Bradford, C.R. Cox, J.J. Kiddle, S.P. Mezyk, Free radical chemistry of advanced oxidation process removal of nitrosamines in water, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 5818–5823.
- [125] B. Xu, Z. Chen, F. Qi, J. Shen, J. Ma, F. Wu, Inhibiting the regeneration of N-nitrosodimethylamine in drinking water by UV photolysis combined with ozonation, J. Hazard. Mater. 168 (2009) 108– 114.
- [126] F. Xiao, Comment on inhibiting the regeneration of N-nitrosodimethylamine in drinking water by UV photolysis combined with ozonation, J. Hazard. Mater. 168 (2009) 108–114 (J. Hazard. Mater. 172 (2009) 518–519).
- [127] B. Xu, Z. Chen, F. Qi, J. Shen, J. Ma, F. Wu, Authors response to comments on: "Inhibiting the regeneration of N-nitrosodimethylamine in drinking water by UV photolysis combined with ozonation" by Xiao F., J. Hazard. Mater. 177 (1-3) (2010) 1167–1169.
- [128] M.H. Plumlee, M. Reinhard, Photochemical attenuation of Nnitrosodimethyloamine (NDMA) and other nitrosamines in surface water, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 6170–6176.
- [129] S. Kim, W. Choi, Kinetics and Mechanism of photocatalytic degradation of (CH₃)_nNH_{4-n} (0 < n < 4) in TiO₂ suspensions. The role of OH radicals, Environ. Sci. Technol. 36 (2002) 2019–2025.
- [130] C. Lee, W. Choi, J. Yoon, Photocatalytic degradation of Nnitrosodimethylamine: mechanism, product distribution, and TiO₂ surface modification, Environ. Sci. Technol. 39 (17) (2005) 6800–6807.
- [131] C. Lee, W. Choi, J. Yoon, UV photolytic mechanism of N-nitrosodimethylamine in water: roles of dissolved oxygen and solution pH, Environ. Sci. Technol. 39 (24) (2005) 9702–9709.
- [132] S. Liang, J.H. Min, M.K. Davis, J.F. Green, D.S. Remer, Use of pulsed-UV processes to destroy NDMA, JAWWA 95 (9) (2003) 121–131.
- [133] M.H. Plumlee, M. López-Mesas, A. Heidlberger, K.P. Ishida, M. Reinhard, N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) removal by reverse osmosis and UV treatment and analysis via LC-MS/MS, Water Res. 42 (2008) 347-355.
- [134] E. Steile-Darling, M. Zedda, M.H. Plumlee, H.E. Ridgway, M. Reinhard, Evaluating the impacts of membrane type, coating, fouling, chemical properties and water chemistry on reverse osmosis rejection of seven nitrosoalkylamines, including NDMA, Water Res. 41 (2007) 3959–3967.
- [135] B.M. Patterson, M. Shackleton, A.J. Furness, J. Pearce, C. Descourvieres, K.L. Linge, F. Busetti, T. Spadek, Fate of nine recycled trace organic contaminants and metal(oid)s during managed aquifier recharge into an anaerobic aquifier: column studies, Water Res. 44 (2010) 1471–1481.
- [136] D. Gunnison, M.E. Zappi, C. Teeter, J.C. Pennington, R. Bajpai, Attenuation mechanism of N-nitrosodimethylamine at an operatioing intercept and treat groudwater remediation system, J. Hazard. Mater. B73 (2000) 179–197.
- [137] J.O. Sharp, T.K. Wood, L. Alvarez-Cohen, Aerobic biodegradatyion of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) by axenic bacterial strains, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 89 (5) (2005) 608–618.
- [138] D. Fournier, J. Hawari, S.H. Streger, K. McKlay, P.B. Hatzinger, Biotransformation of N-nitrosodimethylamine by *Pseudomonas mendocina* KR1, Appl. Environ. Microb. 72 (10) (2006) 6693–6698.
- [139] D. Fournier, J. Hawari, A. Halasz, S.H. Streger, K.R. McKlay, H. Masuda, P.B. Hatzinger, Aerobic biodegradation of N-nitrosodimethylamine by propanothroph Rhodococus ruber ENV425, Appl. Environ. Microb. 75 (15) (2009) 5088–5093.
- [140] J.O. Sharp, C.M. Sales, J.C. LeBlanck, J. Liu, T.K. Wood, L.D. Eltis, W.A. Mohn, L. Alvarez-Cohen, An inducible propane monooxygenase is responsible for Nnitrosodimethylamine degradation by *Rhodococus* sp. RHA1, Appl. Environ. Microb. 73 (21) (2007) 6930–6938.
- [141] J. Chung, C.-H. Ahn, Z. Chen, B.E. Rittmann:, Bio-reduction of Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) using a hydrogen-based membrane biofilm reactor, Chemosphere 70 (2008) 516–520.
- [142] D.D. Yifru, V.A. Nzengung, Uptake of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) from water by phreatophytes in the absence and presence of perchlorate as a cocontaminant, Environ. Sci. Technol. 40 (2006) 7374–7380.
- [143] W.C. Yang, J. Gan, W.P. Liu, R. Green, Degradation of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) in landscape soils, J. Environ. Qual. 34 (2005) 336–341.
- [144] J. Gan, S. Bondarenko, F. Ernst, W. Yang, S.B. Ries, D.L. Sedlak:, Leaching of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) in turfgrass soils during wastewater irrigation, J. Environ. Qual. 35 (1) (2006) 277–284.
- [145] M. Arienzo, J. Gan, F. Ernst, S. Qin, S. Bondarenko, D.L. Sedlak, Loss pathways of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) in turfgrass soils, J. Environ. Qual. 35 (1) (2006) 285–292.
- [146] S. Haruta, W. Chen, J. Gun, J. Šimůnek, A.C. Chang, L. Wu:, Leaching risk of N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) in soil receiving reclaimed wastewater, Ecotox. Environ. Saf. 69 (2008) 374–380.
- [147] R. Gui, R.W. Gillham, M.S. Odziemkowski, Reduction of Nnitrosodimethylamine with granular iron and nickel-enhanced iron. 1. Pathways and kinetics, Environ. Sci. Technol. 34 (2000) 3489–3494.
- [148] R. Gui, R.W. Gillham, M.S. Odziemkowski, Reduction of Nnitrosodimethylamine with granular iron and nickel-enhanced iron. 2. Mechanistic studies, Environ. Sci. Technol. 34 (2000) 3495–3500.
- [149] M.G. Davie, M. Reinhard, J.R. Shapley, Metal-catalysed reduction of Nbitrosodimethylamine with hydrogen in water, Environ. Sci. Technol. 40 (10) (2006) 7329–7335.

- [150] M.G. Davie, K. Shih, F.A. Pacheco, J.O. Leckie, M. Reinhard, Palladium-indium catalysed reduction of N-nitrosodimethylamine: indium as a promoter metal, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 3040–3046.
- [151] A.J. Frierdrich, J.R. Sharpley, T.J. Strathmann, Rapid reduction of Nnitrosoamine disinfection by-products in water with hydrogen and porous nickiel catalysts, Environ. Sci. Technol. 42 (2008) 262–269.
- [152] A.J. Frierdrich, C.E. Joseph, T.J. Strathmann, Catalytic reduction of Nnitrosodimethylamine with nanophase nickel-boron, Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 90 (2009) 175–183.
- [153] A. Fristachi, G. Rice, Estimation of the total daily oral intake of NDMA attributable to drinking water, J. Water Health 5 (2007) 341–355.